
Petition for Annexation to the City of Dillingham                           June 14, 2010 as  
Page 79 of 195                                                                                                                           revised October 16, 2014  

   

Please also refer to narrative in brief at section 3 AAC 110.090(b), 3 AAC 110.130 (c)(1-2), and 
3AAC 110.135, portions of which specifically address these issues.  
 
PREVIOUS FINDINGS OF COMMISSION: 
The commission finds that the proposed boundary change promotes maximum local self-
government under art. X, sec. 1, Constitution of the State of Alaska.  
See Exhibit I  - LBC Decision p.13  
 
 

K. Per 3 AAC 110.140, the territory meets the annexation standards specified in 3 AAC 
110.090 – 3 AAC 110.135, and may be annexed to a city by the legislative review 
process because at least one of the circumstances enumerated by 3 AAC 110.140(1) 
through (9) exists.   
 
Pages 1-31 of this brief explain how the proposed annexation meets the standards in 3 
AAC 110.090-3 AAC 110.135.  3 AAC 110.140 does not alter any of these standards.  It 
does add 822 “circumstances”.  If any one of  the 8 are found by the Commission to 
exist the proposed annexation meets the requirements of 3 AAC 110.140.  The 
proposed annexation meets more than one of these standards.  The standards met by 
the proposed annexation are discussed below.   

 
(2) the health, safety, or general welfare of city residents is or will be endangered by 

conditions existing or potentially developing in the territory, and annexation will enable 
the city to regulate or control the detrimental effects of those conditions;  

 
 The general economic welfare of city residents is at risk from the continued use of city 

funded support services by permit holders fishing in the territory proposed for annexation 
without being taxed to support provision of the city services they receive.  Annexation will 
enable Dillingham to end this condition of receiving the benefit of city services without a 
commensurate contribution to funding those services. 

 
(3) the extension of city services or facilities into the territory is necessary to enable the city to 

provide adequate services to city residents, and it is impossible or impractical for the city 
to extend the facilities or services unless the territory is within the boundaries of the city;  

 
 As discussed in pages 4-14 of this brief, the long term ability of the City of Dillingham to 

provide adequate services to city residents depends on an expansion of the city’s tax base 
which can be accomplished only through annexation.    

 
(4) residents or property owners within the territory receive, or may be reasonably expected 

to receive, directly or indirectly, the benefit of city government without commensurate tax 

                                                      
 
 
22 3 AAC 110.140(6) was previously repealed. 

Page 133 of 262



Petition for Annexation to the City of Dillingham                           June 14, 2010 as  
Page 80 of 195                                                                                                                           revised October 16, 2014  

   

contributions, whether these city benefits are rendered or received inside or outside the 
territory, and no practical or equitable alternative method is available to offset the cost of 
providing these benefits;  

  
As discussed in pages 4-10 of this brief, permit holders and vessel owners fishing within 
the territory to be annexed have received and continue to receive the benefit of City of 
Dillingham services either directly or through City support of the infrastructure that 
supports on shore processors thereby expanding the markets available to permit holders.  
The Commission has previously found this to be true.  LBC Decision p.6.    Harbor user fees 
do not and cannot practically or equitably be used to offset the full cost of providing these 
benefits.  The Dillingham small boat harbor and port facilities are an enterprise fund.  
Harbor fees cannot be used to support the cost of public safety, landfill, roads and water 
and sewer infrastructure operated and maintained by the City of Dillingham.   

 
(7) annexation of the territory will promote  
(A) maximum local self-government, as determined under 3 AAC 110.981; and  
(B) a minimum number of local government units, as determined under 3 AAC 110.982 and in 

accordance with art. X, sec. 1, Constitution of the State of Alaska;  
  
 See page 31 of this brief regarding 3 AAC 110.981.  The applicable 3 AAC 110.982 standard 

is 3 AAC 110.982(7):  “whether the jurisdictional boundaries of an existing city are being 
enlarged rather than promoting the incorporation of a new city or creation of a new 
borough service area”.  The proposed annexation enlarges the boundaries of an existing 
city instead of proposing creating a new city or a new service area.   So only one local 
government unit will result from annexation.  This promotes a minimum number of local 
government units under 3 AAC 110.982(7). 

 
PREVIOUS COMMISSION FINDING STANDARD HAS BEEN MET 
The Commission previously found: 
The commission finds that the proposed boundary change promotes maximum local self-
government under art. X, sec. 1, Constitution of the State of Alaska. . . Annexing the territory 
would not increase the number of local government units. Annexation would just change the 
size of the city. The commission finds that if no new local government units are created by an 
approved proposal, then the annexation would promote the principal of a minimum number 
of local government units. The commission finds that this annexation proposal will not create 
new local government units and therefore has met the requirements of 3 AAC 110.982. 
See Exhibit I  - LBC Decision p.13. 
 

(8) annexation of the territory will enhance the extent to which the existing city meets the 
standards for incorporation of cities, as set out in the Constitution of the State of Alaska, AS 
29.05, and 3 AAC 110.005 - 3 AAC 110.042, and is in the best interests of the state;  

 This standard focuses not on the territory to be annexed but on “the existing city” of 
Dillingham.  It is easily met by the proposed annexation.   

   

Page 134 of 262



Petition for Annexation to the City of Dillingham                           June 14, 2010 as  
Page 81 of 195                                                                                                                           revised October 16, 2014  

   

3 AAC 110.005. Community .  Territory proposed for incorporation as a city must encompass a 
community. 

  
 Dillingham is a fishing community.  Adding fishing grounds to a fishing community 

enhances the extent to which the existing City of Dillingham meets the “community” 
standard for incorporation as a city.   

  
3 AAC 110.010. Need 
(a) In accordance with AS 29.05.011(a) (5), a community must demonstrate a reasonable need 

for city government. In this regard, the commission may consider relevant factors, including  
(1) existing or reasonably anticipated social or economic conditions;  
(2) existing or reasonably anticipated health, safety, and general welfare conditions;  
(3) existing or reasonably anticipated economic development; and  
(4) adequacy of existing services.  

 
 There is obviously a need for city government in Dillingham.  The existing economic 

conditions motivating the people of Dillingham to have previously approved annexation in 
a public referendum, the existing general welfare conditions, existing or anticipated 
economic development and existing services have all been discussed in pages 4-10 of this 
supporting brief.  Annexation will enhance the ability of the existing city to provide for the 
general welfare of residents and provide adequate city services through expansion of the 
tax base.  As previously found by the Commission this also will promote economic 
development within the existing City of Dillingham to the benefit of both Dillingham and 
the surrounding region.   

      See Exhibit I  - LBC Decision p.6. 
 
(b) In accordance with AS 29.05.021(a) , and to promote a minimum number of local 

government units in accordance with art. X, sec. 1, Constitution of the State of Alaska, a 
community in the unorganized borough may not incorporate as a city if essential municipal 
services can be provided more efficiently or more effectively by annexation to an existing 
city.  

  
 This standard is not materially different than 3 AAC 110.090(b).  The “minimum number of 

local government units” standard has been discussed at pages 29-31 of this brief. 
 
(c) In accordance with AS 29.05.021(b) , and to promote a minimum number of local 

government units in accordance with art. X, sec. 1, Constitution of the State of Alaska, a 
community within an organized borough may not incorporate as a city if essential municipal 
services can be provided more efficiently or more effectively  

(1) by annexation to an existing city;  
(2) by an existing organized borough on an areawide or non-areawide basis; or  
(3) through an existing borough service area.  
 

Page 135 of 262



Petition for Annexation to the City of Dillingham                           June 14, 2010 as  
Page 82 of 195                                                                                                                           revised October 16, 2014  

   

 This standard is not materially different from 3 AAC 110.090(b) which is discussed at 
pages 11-14.  There is no existing borough. The Commission previously determined this 
standard was met.  See Exhibit I - LBC Decision p.6. 

 
3 AAC 110.020. Resources .    In accordance with AS 29.05.011(a) (3) the economy of a proposed 

city must include the human and financial resources necessary to provide essential municipal 
services on an efficient, cost-effective level.  

   
 This standard is not materially different from 3 AAC 110.110.  Enhancing the ability of the 

existing City of Dillingham to provide essential municipal services on an efficient cost-
effective level is the primary basis for the proposed annexation. This is thoroughly 
discussed throughout the petition and in pages 16-20 of this brief. That discussion will not 
be repeated here. 

 
PREVIOUS COMMISSION FINDING: 
The commission concludes that the petitioner has successfully met 3 AAC 110.110 because the 
economy within the proposed expanded boundaries of the city includes the human and 
financial resources necessary to provide essential municipal services on an efficient, cost-
effective level.   
See Exhibit I - LBC Decision p.7. 
 

 3 AAC 110.030. Population  In accordance with AS 29.05.011(a) (4), the population of a 
proposed city must be sufficiently large and stable to support the proposed city government. 

 
 This standard is not materially different from 3 AAC 110.120 which is discussed at pages 

21-25.  The Commission previously found this standard was met.  See Exhibit I - LBC 
Decision p.7. 

 
 3 AAC 110.040. Boundaries  In accordance with AS 29.05.011(a) (2), the boundaries of a 

proposed city must include all land and water necessary to provide the development of 
essential municipal services on an efficient, cost-effective level. 

 This standard is not materially different from 3 AAC 110.130(a) which is discussed at 
pages 25-26 of this brief.  Expanding city boundaries results in an expansion of the tax 
base which enhances Dillingham’s ability to provide essential municipal services on an 
efficient cost-effective level.  The Commission has previously determined this standard has 
been met.  See Exhibit I - LBC Decision p.7.   

 
 3 AAC 110.042. Best interests of state 
 This standard is not materially different from 3 AAC 110.135 which is discussed at pages 

29-30 of this brief.  The Commission has previously determined annexation as proposed is 
in the best interests of the State.  See Exhibit I - LBC Decision p. 10. 

   
(9) the commission determines that specific policies set out in the Constitution of the State of 
Alaska, AS 29.04, AS 29.05, or AS 29.06 are best served through annexation of the territory 
by the legislative review process, and that annexation is in the best interests of the state. 

Page 136 of 262



Petition for Annexation to the City of Dillingham                           June 14, 2010 as  
Page 83 of 195                                                                                                                           revised October 16, 2014  

   

 The Commission has previously determined annexation is in the best interest of the state.  
LBC Decision p. 10.    The Superior Court has determined that the applicable Commission 
regulations require using the legislative review process.    The Commission is bound both 
by judicial order and its own previous decision to approve the proposed annexation and 
submit it to the Alaska Legislature for legislative review. 

 
L. Per 3 AAC 110.910, the proposed annexation will not deny any person the enjoyment 
of any civil or political right, including voting rights, because of race, color, creed, sex, or 
national origin. 

 
 3 AAC 110.910. Statement of nondiscrimination A petition will not be approved by the 

commission if the effect of the proposed change denies any person the enjoyment of any 
civil or political right, including voting rights, because of race, color, creed, sex, or national 
origin. 

 
The annexation will not add any residents to the City of Dillingham.  The annexation does 
not exclude minorities while including other similarly situated persons. There will be no 
reduction of the City’s minority population percentage. The electoral system of the City of 
Dillingham reflects minority-voting strength through at-large elections for all offices.    

 

PREVIOUS FINDINGS OF COMMISSION:    
We find no evidence that the effect of the proposed change denies any person the enjoyment 
of any civil or political right, including voting rights, because of race, color, creed, sex, or 
national origin.  
See Exhibit I - LBC Decision p.12. 
 

M.  Per 3 AAC 110.970(c), it identifies those essential municipal services consisting of 
those mandatory and discretionary powers and facilities that: 

(1) Are reasonably necessary to the community; 
(2) Promote maximum, local self-government; and 
(3) Cannot be provided more efficiently and more effectively by the creation or 

modification of some other political subdivision of the state. 
 
The petition describes city services provided by Dillingham as a first class municipality 
which include education, public works, ports and harbors, public safety, planning, tax 
collection, public utilities (water, sewer, landfill) and planning and zoning.  As 
discussed at pages 11-14 of this brief these services cannot be provided more 
efficiently or effectively by the creation of a borough.   

 

PREVIOUS FINDING OF COMMISSION: 
“no other existing municipality has the ability to provide essential municipal services to the 
territory to be annexed more efficiently and more effectively than [Dillingham]”   
See Exhibit I - LBC Decision p. 6. 

 

Page 137 of 262



Petition for Annexation to the City of Dillingham                           June 14, 2010 as  
Page 84 of 195                                                                                                                           revised October 16, 2014  

   

N. Per 3 AAC 110.981(7), the proposed annexation would extend local government to 
territory or population of the unorganized borough where no local government currently 
exists. 
 
  This is obviously the case. 

 

O.  Per 3 AAC 110.982(7), the jurisdictional boundaries of an existing city are being 
enlarged, rather than promoting the incorporation of a new city, or creation of a new 
borough service area.  

    
   This is obviously the case as previously determined by the Commission.  See Exhibit I - LBC  
   Decision pg. 13. 

Page 138 of 262



Petition for Annexation to the City of Dillingham                          June 14, 2010 as  
Page 85 of 195           revised October 16, 2014   

   

EXHIBIT F.  CIVIL AND POLITICAL RIGHTS INFORMATION. 
 
Supplemental material in Exhibit F is in bold italics inserted into the original June 14, 2010 
narrative, to update it to 2013. 

 
 
This Exhibit provides Information regarding any effects of the proposed annexation upon civil 
and political rights for purposes of the federal Voting Rights Act.    
 
The proposed change will not deny any person the enjoyment of any civil or political right, 
including voting rights, because of race, color, creed, sex or national origin.  
 
A. the purpose and effect of annexation as it pertains to voting; 
The annexation will not add any residents to the City of Dillingham.  
 
B. the extent to which the annexation excludes minorities while including other similarly 

situated persons; 
The annexation does not exclude minorities while including other similarly situated persons.    
 
C. the extent to which annexation reduces the City's minority population percentage; 
There will be no reduction of the City’s minority population percentage.   
 
D. whether the electoral system of the City fails fairly to reflect minority-voting strength; 
The electoral system of the City of Dillingham reflects minority-voting strength through at-large 
elections for all offices. 
 
E. participation by minorities in the development of the annexation proposal; 
The public had the opportunity to speak to this proposed annexation at: 1) the Council work 
sessions held by the City Council as part of their consideration of the annexation in March and 
October 2009, and January 2010; and during several public outreach subcommittee meetings 
between March and June 2010; 2) when the resolution/ordinance was adopted authorizing the 
filing of this petition. In addition, the public has the right to speak during the “Citizens 
Comments” portion of every regular meeting of the Dillingham City Council. 
The public had the opportunity to speak to this proposed annexation at:  

1) the Council work sessions held by the City Council as part of their consideration of 
the annexation in March and October 2009, and January 2010; and during several 
public outreach subcommittee meetings between March and June 2010;  

2) when Resolution No. 2010-10 was adopted authorizing the filing of this petition;  

3) during the comment period provided by the Local Boundary Commission between 
January 25,2011 and February 25,2011;  

4) during the public hearing held by the Local Boundary Commission on April 25, 2011  

5) during a consultation period between May and November 2011(report attached);  

Page 139 of 262



Petition for Annexation to the City of Dillingham                           June 14, 2010 as  
Page 86 of 195                                                                                                                           revised October 16, 2014  

   

6) during consideration of adoption of the city fish tax ordinance at public hearings 
held during city council meetings on February 2, 2012 (raw fish sales tax), and May 
17, 2012 (severance tax) [city council agendas/minutes attached];  

7) during the period prior to a referendum election on annexation and adoption of 
the fish tax ordinance between February 2012 and April 10, 2012, and special 
election   advertised in the Bristol Bay Times newspaper, Feb. 23, March 1 and 
March 8, 2012, and posted in three public places]; and  

8) during a September 24, 2014 public hearing and during less formal information 
sessions held in Manokotak (transcripts to be submitted with petition)  

 
In addition, the public has the right to speak during the “Citizens Comments” portion of every 
regular meeting of the Dillingham City Council.   
 
F. designation of an Alaska Native for U.S. Department of Justice contact regarding the 

proposed annexation; 
Alice Ruby, Mayor 
City of Dillingham 

P.O. Box 889 
Dillingham, AK 99576 

907-842-5211 
 
G. statement concerning the understanding of English in written and spoken forms among 

minority residents of the City and the territory proposed for annexation; 
English is spoken and understood throughout the City of Dillingham and the annexed area. 

Page 140 of 262



Petition for Annexation to the City of Dillingham                          June 14, 2010 as  
Page 87 of 195           revised October 16, 2014   

   

EXHIBIT G.  DOCUMENTATION DEMONSTRATING THAT THE PETITIONER IS AUTHORIZED TO 
FILE THE PETITION UNDER 3 AAC 110.410. 
 

Meeting Date: October 2, 2014 
Postponed to:  October 16, 2014 

CITY OF DILLINGHAM, ALASKA 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2014-57 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE DILLINGHAM CITY COUNCIL AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO SUBMIT A 
PETITION TO THE ALASKA LOCAL BOUNDARY COMMISSION FOR ANNEXATION OF 
COMMERCIAL FISHING WATERS TO THE CITY OF DILLINGHAM BY THE LEGISLATIVE REVIEW 
METHOD 
 
WHEREAS, on June 14, 2010, the City of Dillingham filed a petition with the State of Alaska Local 
Boundary Commission to annex, via the Local Option (voter approval method), the Nushagak 
Commercial Salmon District waters and Wood River Sockeye Salmon Special Harvest area waters, 
together consisting of approximately 396 square miles of water and 3 square miles of land (small 
islands); and  
 
WHEREAS, on April 10, 2012, a Special Election resulted in the passage  
of two propositions: Proposition 1  approved the annexation of commercial fishing waters to the 
Dillingham area, and Proposition 2 approved a 2.5% tax on sales of raw fish made within the City 
boundaries; and  
 
WHEREAS, passage of Proposition 1 and 2 would provide critical funding to support the fishing 
industry, fire and public safety, water and sewer, landfill, harbor and dock, streets, and library 
and schools; and  
 
WHEREAS, the on March 27, 2014 a Court Judge ruling in Native Village of Ekuk vs. Local 
Boundary Commission and City of Dillingham Case No. 3DI-12-0022 CI ordered the Local Boundary 
Commission to process the annexation through the legislative review method; and 
 
WHEREAS, on August _, 2014 the Dillingham City Council adopted Resolution No. 2014-42, 
approving a draft petition to Annex the Nushagak Commercial Salmon District and the Wood 
River Salmon Special Harvest Area by the Legislative Review Method; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Dillingham held a properly noticed and advertised Special Meeting, 
Wednesday, September 24, at 6:00 PM, for a public hearing on the draft petition, before deciding 
whether to make any changes to the draft and submitting the petition to the Commission for 
approval; and  
 
  

Page 141 of 262



Petition for Annexation to the City of Dillingham                           June 14, 2010 as  
Page 88 of 195                                                                                                                           revised October 16, 2014  

   

Meeting Date: October 2, 2014 
Postponed to:  October 16, 2014 

 
WHEREAS, representatives of the City of Dillingham held a public informational session in 
Manakotak on September 25 at the Manakotak city hall on the draft petition, before deciding 
whether to make any changes to the draft and submitting the petition to the Commission for 
approval; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Dillingham held a workshop at Dillingham City Hall October 2, 2014 
regarding the draft petition, before deciding whether to make any changes to the draft and 
submitting the petition to the Commission for approval; and  
 
WHEREAS, copies of the petition summary, the prospective petition and related documents, 
including a map, were made available for public review at the following locations, days, and times 
open to the public beginning on or about August 12, 2014:  

1. Dillingham City Hall, 141 Main Street, Dillingham, Monday to Friday, 8 am to 5 pm. 
2. Dillingham Library, 306 D Street West, Dillingham, Monday, Tuesday & Thursday, 10 

am – 5 pm, Wednesday, 10 am – 6 pm, Friday, 12 pm – 7 pm, and Saturday, 10 am – 2 
pm. 

3. Dillingham Small Boat Harbor office, 235 Harbor Road, Dillingham, June 1 through 
August 15, Monday through Sunday, 7 am – 10 pm, and August 16 through May 31, 
Monday through Friday, 7 am – 5 pm.     

4. Dillingham Senior Center, 515 1st Avenue East, Dillingham, Monday through Friday, 8 
am – 4 pm. 

5. City of Dillingham website, http://www.dillinghamak.us, available anytime.  
6. Curyung Tribal Council, 390 D Street, Dillingham, Monday through Friday, 8 am – 4:30 

pm. 
7. Ekuk Village Council, 372 Aleknagik Lake Road, Dillingham, Monday through Friday, 

8am - 4:30pm. 
8. City of Aleknagik, City office, Aleknagik, Monday through Friday, 9 am – 4 pm.  
9. Village of Aleknagik, Village office, Aleknagik, Monday to Friday, 9 am – 5 pm. 
10. Village of Clark’s Point, Village office, Clark’s Point, Monday through Friday, 9 am 4:30 

pm. 
11. City of Manokotak, City office, Manokotak, Monday through Friday, 9 am – 5 pm. 
12. Village of Manokotak, Village office, Manokotak, Monday to Friday, 9 am – 5 pm. 
13. Bristol Bay Borough, Borough office, Naknek, Monday through Friday, 8 am – 4:30 pm.  
14. Lake and Peninsula Borough, Borough Clerk’s office, Monday through Friday, King 

Salmon, 8am – 5pm.   
15. City of Ekwok, City office, Ekwok, Monday through Friday, 10 am – 5 pm.  
16. City of New Stuyahok, City office, New Stuyahok, Monday through Friday, 8 am –    3 

pm.   
17. New Koliganek Village Council, Village office, Koliganek, Monday through Friday,  

8 am – 4:30 pm. 
 

Page 142 of 262

http://www.dillinghamak.us/


Petition for Annexation to the City of Dillingham                           June 14, 2010 as  
Page 89 of 195                                                                                                                           revised October 16, 2014  

   

Meeting Date: October 2, 2014 
Postponed to:  October 16, 2014 

 
WHEREAS, the scope of the public hearing held September 24, 2014, included addressing the 
appropriate annexation standards and their application to the annexation proposal, legislative 
review annexation procedures, the reasonably anticipated effects of the proposed annexation, 
and the proposed transition plan required under 3 AAC 110.090 – 3 AAC 110.150, 3 AAC 
110.400 – 3 AAC 110.700, and 3 AAC 110.900 – 3 AAC 110.990; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Dillingham provided an opportunity for any person to submit written 
comments on the draft annexation petition until the close of business September 30, 2014, before 
deciding whether to make any changes to the draft and submitting the petition to the Commission 
for approval; and  
 
WHEREAS, the city council of the City of Dillingham has considered public comments (both written 
and spoken) about the 2010 petition, the additional public comments made at the 2014 public 
hearing, and informational sessions, suggested petition changes to the draft petition developed 
by staff and consultants, and written comments regarding the draft petition submitted by the 
deadline for written comments before deciding whether to approve changes to the draft and 
submit the petition to the Commission for approval and has determined that it is in the public 
interest of the citizens of Dillingham that the revised petition attached to this resolution be 
submitted to the local Boundary Commission;  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: 
 
1.  That the Dillingham City Council hereby approves the revised draft petition attached to this 
Resolution; and     
 
2.   That the Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized to sign and submit an amended 
annexation petition substantially in the form attached to this Resolution with additional 
exhibits as required.  
 
PASSED and ADOPTED by the Dillingham City Council on __________________.  
 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Alice Ruby, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      [SEAL] 
 
 
________________________________ 
Janice Williams, City Clerk    

Page 143 of 262



Petition for Annexation to the City of Dillingham                           June 14, 2010 as  
Page 90 of 195                                                                                                                           revised October 16, 2014  

   

EXHIBIT H.  AFFIDAVIT OF PETITIONERS REPRESENTATIVE CONCERNING SOURCE AND 
ACCURACY OF INFORMATION. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

STATE OF ALASKA  ) 

     ) ss. 

THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 

 

 

 I, Alice Ruby, representative of the Petitioner seeking annexation, being sworn, state that 

the following:  

To the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, formed after reasonable 

inquiry, the information in the Petition is true and accurate.    

 

      DATED this ___ day of ________, 2014.   

                                                                 

______________________________________ 

      Petitioner’s Representative  

 

 

 

 SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me on ____________________. 

 

 

[notary seal]    ______________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for Alaska 

     My Commission expires: _________________ 

 
  

Page 144 of 262



Petition for Annexation to the City of Dillingham                           June 14, 2010 as  
Page 91 of 195                                                                                                                           revised October 16, 2014  

   

EXHIBIT I.  LOCAL BOUNDARY COMMISSION DECEMBER 14, 2011 DECISION APPROVING 
DILLINGHAM ANNEXATION 
 

(16 pages, begins next page) 
 
 

Page 145 of 262



Local Boundary Commission 
 

Decision 
 

In the Matter of the June 14, 2010, 
Petition by the City of Dillingham 
to annex approximately 396 square 
miles of submerged land and 3 
square miles of land 
 
 

Section I 
Introduction 

 
On June 14, 2010, the City of Dillingham (hereafter “Petitioner” or “City 
of Dillingham”) petitioned the Local Boundary Commission (also referred 
to as “LBC” or “commission”) to annex approximately 396 square miles of 
submerged land and 3 square miles of land.  The territory proposed for 
annexation is described as follows and is shown on the map below: 
 
The territory proposed for annexation is the Nushagak Commercial Salmon 
District with approximately 390.95 square miles of water and 2.83 square 

miles of land (Grassy Island), and, the Wood River Sockeye Salmon 
Special Harvest area with approximately 4.89 square miles of water and 

0.41 square miles of land (Sheep Island and small island to north), together 
totaling 399.08 square miles of which 395.84 (99.2%) are water. 

 

 

 
 

Members 

 

Lynn Chrystal 

Chair 

At Large 

 

 

 

 

 

 

John Harrington 

Member 

First Judicial District 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bob Harcharek 

 Member 

Second Judicial District 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Larry Semmens 

Vice Chair 

Third Judicial District 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lavell Wilson 

Member 

Fourth Judicial District 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 146 of 262



LBC Decision  
City of Dillingham Annexation 
Page 2 

 

SECTION II 
PROCEEDINGS 

 
 Deposit of Petition 

 
On June 14, 2010, the City of Dillingham provided a copy of the City’s prospective 
petition at the following locations: 
 

o City of Dillingham’s City Hall, Dillingham; 
o Dillingham Library, Dillingham; 
o Port of Dillingham small boat office, Dillingham; and 
o City of Dillingham website. 

 
On July 9, 2010 the City updated those notebooks to include the submitted petition, 
public notice, and copies of the laws establishing standards and procedures for city 
annexation.  They have been subsequently updated. 

On September 21, 2010, the City further updated those notebooks to include the errata 
with minor spelling and grammatical corrections to the submitted petition.  
 

 Submission and Review of Petition 
 
The petition was submitted to LBC staff (also referred to as “Commerce”) on June 14, 
2010, and accepted for filing on July 2, 2010. 
 

 Posting of Notice 
 
On July 9, 2010, notice was posted at the following locations within and surrounding the 
territory proposed for annexation: 
 
o City of Dillingham’s City Hall; 
o Dillingham Library; 
o Port of Dillingham small boat 

office; 
o City of Dillingham website 
o Dillingham’s United States post 

office; 
o Dillingham Alaska Commercial;  
o Dillingham N & N Market;   
o Dillingham BBEDC office; 
o Dillingham Choggiung Office; 
o Dillingham BBNA office; 
o Dillingham ADF&G office; 

 
o Dillingham Peter Pan office;  
o Dillingham Snopac office; 
o Clark’s Point post office 
o City of Clark’s Point office; 
o Village of Clark’s Point office; 
o Aleknagik post office; 
o City of Aleknagik office; 
o Native Village of Aleknagik office; 
o Manokotak post office; 
o City of Manokotak office; 
o Manokotak Council office; 
o Ekuk Village Council office; 
o Curyung Tribal Council office. 

 Public Notice 
 
Notice of the petition was published in the Bristol Bay Times on July 15, July 22, and 
July 29, 2010.  
On August 2 and 5, 2010, a public service announcement was sent to the following radio 
stations to broadcast for 14 days: 
 

KDLG am and fm 

Page 147 of 262



LBC Decision  
City of Dillingham Annexation 
Page 3 

 
 Service of Petition 

 
On July 26, 2010, the City of Clark’s Point, the City of Manokotak, the City of 
Aleknagik, the Village of Clark’s Point, Ekuk Village Council, Manokotak Village 
Council, the Native Village of Aleknagik, and Curyung Tribal Council were served, via 
United States Postal Service, complete copies of the petition. 
 
On August 2, 2010 a copy of the Notice of Petition was mailed by city employee Janice 
Shilanski to the individuals and organizations whose names and addresses are listed in 
Exhibit No. 3, attached to the August 6, 2010, City affidavit. 
 

 Deadline for Initial Comments and Responsive Briefs 
 
The notice of filing invited written public comment concerning the proposed annexation 
by October 4, 2010.  The Native Village of Ekuk submitted a timely received responsive 
brief on October 4, 2010, before 4:30 p.m., via email.  Staff received 11 public 
comments. Below is the full list of each public comment including date received and 
position regarding the annexation petition. 
 

Name 
Date 

Received Position Regarding Annexation Petition 
City of Alegnagik 10/1/2010 Opposed 
Clarks Point Village Council 10/1/2010 Opposed 
Ekwok Village Council 10/1/2010 Opposed 
Lake and Peninsula Borough 10/1/2010 Conditional Support 
Jerry Liboff 9/29/2010 Opposed 
Stanley Mack 10/1/2010 Opposed 
City of Manokotak 9/30/2010 Opposed 
City of New Stuyahok 9/30/2010 Opposed 
Native Village of Ekuk Responsive 
Brief 10/1/2010* Opposed 
Avi Friedman 9/30/2010* Opposed 
Bristol Bay Native Association 10/3/2010** Opposed 
Robin Samuelsen 10/1/2010* Support 
      

*Electronic version received prior to deadline. Per 3 AAC.110.700 a discrepancy was realized.  
Late Filing request was submitted and accepted by LBC Chair 

**Received Late with no communication prior to the deadline.  
Late Filing request was submitted and accepted by LBC Chair 

Staff acknowledged each individual, municipal, and tribal government agency’s comment 
in a timely manner. Per 3 AAC 110.480(d), originals (hard copies) of public comments 
not received within 10 days were considered late filed comments. No penalty was enacted 
for a late filed comment. 
 
To ensure the fairness of the process and to allow every commenter the opportunity to 
have his or her comments addressed, staff requested that the LBC chair relax the relevant 
regulations to allow in the three comments that were submitted either late, or on time but 
without an original on file, and the reply brief1.  Staff felt it was in the interest of justice 
to allow all comments to be considered regardless of their position. This request was 
presented to and approved by the LBC chair.  
 

                                                 
1 The reply brief was submitted electronically in a timely manner. However, two pages were mistakenly missed from 
the electronic version. To ensure fairness, LBC staff included the reply brief in the request to relax the regulations to 
prevent any perception of preferential treatment. 

Page 148 of 262



LBC Decision  
City of Dillingham Annexation 
Page 4 

 Petitioner’s Reply Brief Filed 
 
On October 4, 2010, the City of Dillingham filed an 82-page reply brief in response to the 
comments and Responsive Brief received during the petition’s public comment period.  
 

 Commerce Informational Meeting 
 
On January 19, 2011, Commerce planned to conduct a duly noticed public informational 
meeting concerning the city of Dillingham’s annexation proposal in the City of 
Dillingham. On January 20, 2011 a second meeting was intended to be held, for the same 
purpose, in the City of Manokotak. Both duly noticed informational meetings were 
cancelled due to blizzard weather in the region. 
 

 Preliminary Report Distribution 
 
On January 26, 2011, Commerce distributed copies of its 116 page Preliminary Report 

Regarding the Proposal to Annex by local option, approximately 396 square miles of 

water and 3 square miles of land to the City of Dillingham to interested parties including 
the petitioner, respondent, commenters, Local Boundary Commission members, and 
others. 
 

 Receiving Timely Comments on Preliminary Report 
 
The public comment period for the preliminary report was from January 26, 2011, until 
February 25, 2011.  Commerce received sixteen submitted comments, including 
comments from the City of Dillingham and the respondent, Native Village of Ekuk 
(hereafter “Respondent” or “Native Village of Ekuk.”). Per 3 AAC 110.480(d), originals 
(hard copies) of public comments not received within 10 days were considered late filed 
comments. No penalty was enacted for a late filed comment. 
 
As with the preliminary report, staff requested that the LBC chair allow in the two 
comments that were submitted on time but without an original on file.  Staff, again, felt it 
was in the interest of justice to allow all comments to be considered regardless of their 
position. This request was presented to and approved by the LBC chair. 
 

 Final Report Distribution 
 
On April 4, 2011, Commerce distributed copies of its Final Report to the Local Boundary 

Commission Regarding the Proposal to Annex by local option, approximately 396 square 

miles of water and 3 square miles of land to the City of Dillingham to interested parties 
including the petitioner, respondent, commenters, Local Boundary Commission 
members, and others. 
 

 Notice of Local Boundary Commission Public Hearing and Decisional Meeting 
The Local Boundary Commission chair scheduled a public hearing regarding the City of 
Dillingham’s annexation petition.  Formal notice of the hearing had been given by 
Commerce under 3 AAC 110.550.   
 
Commerce published the full notice as a column ad in the Bristol Bay Times on March 
21, 2011, and a display ad in the Bristol Bay Times on March 28, 2011, April 5, 2011, 
April 12, 2011. The notice was also posted on the internet through the state’s Online 

Public Notice System, as well as on the Division of Community and Regional Affairs and 
LBC websites.  
 
Additionally, notice of the hearing was provided to the Petitioner’s representative (Mayor 
Alice Ruby) and to the Respondent Native Village of Ekuk, and the Respondent’s legal 

Page 149 of 262



LBC Decision  
City of Dillingham Annexation 
Page 5 

counsel, James Baldwin.  The City posted the notice where the petition documents were 
made available for public review.  
 

 LBC Meeting 
 
On April 6th, 2011, the LBC held a duly noticed public meeting in Anchorage.  One of 
the items on the agenda was the process of deliberation for the LBC decisional meeting.  
LBC staff presented an overview of the regulations and standards pertaining to the city 
annexation process. 
 

 LBC Public Hearing Regarding the City of Dillingham’s Annexation Petition 
 
In accordance with 3 AAC 110.550 and 3 AAC 110.560 the commission held a duly 
noticed public hearing on Monday, April 25, 2011, regarding the City of Dillingham’s 
annexation petition.  The hearing began at 4:00 p.m. in the Dillingham high school gym.  
The continuation of the public hearing began at 4:00 pm on Tuesday, April 26, 2011. The 
decisional meeting immediately followed the close of the public hearing at approximately 
10:45 p.m. and concluded at approximately 1:00 a.m. April 27, 2011. The commission 
heard sworn testimony from witnesses for the City of Dillingham and for the Respondent, 
Native Village of Ekuk, as well as comments by numerous public members both for and 
against the proposed annexation.   
 

 LBC Decisional Meeting Regarding the City of Dillingham’s Annexation Petition 
 
In accordance with 3 AAC 110.570 the Local Boundary Commission held a duly noticed 
decisional meeting on Tuesday, April 26, 2011, regarding the City of Dillingham’s 
annexation petition.  The commission voted 5 to 0 to conditionally approve the 
annexation petition, as allowed under 3 AAC 110.570(c)(1).  
 
Please see the “Reconsideration” section to see the reconsideration proceedings. 
 

 

SECTION III  
FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

 
The record in this proceeding includes the City of Dillingham’s annexation petition and 
supporting materials, written comments received on the petition, the Native Village of Ekuk’s 
responsive brief, the City of Dillingham’s reply brief, Commerce’s preliminary report, comments 
received on Commerce’s preliminary report, Commerce’s final report, and testimony received at 
the LBC’s April 25th and 26th public hearing on the petition.  
 
The standards for annexation to cities that the Local Boundary Commission is required by 
Alaska law to apply are found at 3 AAC 110.090 – 3 AAC 110.135 and 3 AAC 110.900 – 3 
AAC 110.982.  Section III of this decisional statement recounts such application by the 
commission.  Based on the evidence in the record relating to the subject petition, the Local 
Boundary Commission has reached the findings and conclusions set out in this section. 
 
A. 3 AAC 110.090.  Need. 
 
Two standards relate to the need for city government in the territory proposed for annexation.  
First, 3 AAC 110.090(a) states that a territory may be annexed to a city provided the commission 
determines that there is a reasonable need for city government in the territory.  Second, 3 AAC 
110.090(b) states that territory may not be annexed to a city if the commission determines that 
essential municipal services can be provided more efficiently and more effectively by another 

Page 150 of 262



LBC Decision  
City of Dillingham Annexation 
Page 6 

existing city or by an organized borough, on an areawide basis or nonareawide basis, or through 
a borough service area.   
 
 3 AAC 110.090(a) 
 
Regarding the first standard, the commission finds that the territory proposed to be annexed, is 
receiving, at the present and through the foreseeable future, the benefit of services and facilities 
provided by the annexing city. The petitioner has continued to provide municipal services. These 
services would not be available to the fishery industry within the Nushagak Bay area if it were 
not for the city providing them. As a responsible local government entity, the city has continually 
provided these services at the expense of its residents and to the point of unsustainability. 
 
The proposed annexation will benefit the region as well as the city. The commission finds that 
110.090 has been met.  
 

1. 3 AAC 110.090(b) 
 
With respect to the second standard relating to the need for city government, 3 AAC 110.090(b) 
provides that territory may not be annexed to a city if essential city services can be provided 
more efficiently and more effectively by another existing city, by an organized borough, or 
through a borough service area. Dillingham is the regional hub for the Nushagak Bay area. No 
other municipality has argued that it has the ability, or desires the responsibility of providing 
more efficient and more effective essential municipal services for the proposed expanded 
boundaries. 
 
The commission finds no other existing municipality has the ability to provide essential 
municipal services to the territory to be annexed more efficiently and more effectively than the 
petitioner. The idea of regional government has only been theoretical with no petition formally 
filed and accepted by the LBC since the incorporation of the city. Regional government could be 
a viable option; however, under the circumstances the region has not produced the will or 
resources necessary to form such a government. The LBC finds that the petition meets 3 AAC 
110.090(b)'s requirements. 
 
B. 3 AAC 110.100.  Character. 
 
Alaska law allows a territory to be annexed to a city provided, that the territory is compatible in 
character with the annexing city.  (3 AAC 110.100).  
 
In a broad view, the Nushagak Bay communities including the City of Dillingham all benefit 
from the tax revenue the annexation would produce. They would benefit because they use city 
services, whether for fishing purposes or not. If Dillingham cannot financially sustain itself, 
these other communities will suffer if these services are no longer available, or are of diminished 
quality. As the community, in general, benefits from the proposed annexation, it is reasonable to 
conclude that the territory is suitable for the reasonably anticipated community purpose of 
producing additional revenue for the direct and indirect benefit of the Nushagak Bay area 
communities. 
 
We find that the petition satisfies 3 AAC 110.100’s requirements for the territory because the 
Nushagak Bay is compatible in character to the City of Dillingham. 
 
C. 3 AAC 110.110.  Resources. 
 
Alaska law allows a territory to be annexed to a city provided that the commission determines 
that the economy within the proposed expanded boundaries of the city has the human and 

Page 151 of 262



LBC Decision  
City of Dillingham Annexation 
Page 7 

financial resources necessary to provide essential city services on an efficient, cost-effective 
level (3 AAC 110.110). 
 
The commission finds that the city has met 3 AAC 110.110 because the city has and is expected 
to continue to provide essential municipal services on an efficient, cost effective level. The local 
fish tax revenue will provide it the resources to continue to do so. The expenses resulting from 
this annexation are a minimal portion of the additional revenue accumulated from the severance 
tax collected, however the petitioner has met 3 AAC 110.110 because the actual income and the 
reasonably anticipated ability to generate and collect local revenue and income from the territory 
will fund the essential municipal services that have been continually provided to the territory.  
 

The existing and reasonably anticipated industrial, commercial, and resource development in the 
territory proposed for annexation is thriving and expected to continue over the long term. The 
commission concludes that the petitioner has successfully met 3 AAC 110.110 because the 
economy within the proposed expanded boundaries of the city includes the human and financial 
resources necessary to provide essential municipal services on an efficient, cost-effective level. 
For all the reason set out above, the commission finds that the petition satisfies the requirements 
of 3 AAC 110.110. 
 
D. 3 AAC 110.120.  Population. 
 
3 AAC 110.120 states that “[t]he population within the proposed expanded boundaries of the city 
must be sufficiently large and stable to support the extension of city government.” 
 
The commission finds that even with a declining population in Dillingham, that the population of 
the proposed expanded boundaries of the city (the existing city plus the territory proposed for 
annexation) is sufficiently large and stable to support the extension of city government. The 
commission believes that in this case, increased tax revenues would stimulate the local economy. 
This in turn could stabilize or increase population, if residents could stay and have suitable 
employment. The commission concludes that the petition meets the standard of 3 AAC 110.120.  
 
E. 3 AAC 110.130.  Boundaries. 
 
There are five standards related to boundaries that the commission must consider.  We find that 
the petition has satisfied 3 AAC 110.130’s requirements based on the rationale below. 
 

1. 3 AAC 110.130(a) 
 
3 AAC 110.130(a) states that the proposed expanded boundaries of the city must include all land 
and water necessary to provide the development of essential municipal services in an efficient, 
cost-effective manner. 
 
The commission finds the city is already providing essential municipal services. The proposed 
annexation will not make it more difficult for the city to provide these services.  
 

2. 3 AAC 110.130(b) 
 
3 AAC 110.130(b) states that territory that is noncontiguous to the annexing city or that would 
create enclaves in the annexing city, does not include all land and water necessary to develop 
essential municipal services in an efficient, cost-effective manner (absent a specific and 
persuasive contrary showing). The commission finds that the territory is contiguous to the city, 
and would not create enclaves.  
 
 

Page 152 of 262



LBC Decision  
City of Dillingham Annexation 
Page 8 

 
3. 3 AAC 110.130(c)(1) 

 
The expanded boundaries of the City of Dillingham must be on a scale suitable for city 
government, and may include only that territory comprising an existing local community, plus 
reasonably predictable growth, development, and public safety needs during the ten years 
following the effective date of annexation.   
 
The commission finds that the proposed expanded boundaries of the city are on a scale suitable 
for city government. The present size of Dillingham is 33.6 sq. miles of land and 2.1 sq. miles of 
water, for a total of 35.7 square miles. The proposed annexation is 395.84 square miles of water, 
and 3.24 square miles of land, for a total of 399.08 square miles. The annexation will result in a 
total municipal area of 434.78 square miles for Dillingham. 
 
Other Alaskan municipalities are reasonably large, on a scale suitable for city (municipal) 
government. While the proposed expanded boundaries are larger than most other municipalities 
they are proportionate per capita to other municipalities. The city of Dillingham will be large, but 
it is not without comparison or precedent. For these reasons, the commission finds that proposed 
expanded boundaries of the city are on a scale suitable for city government.  
 

4. 3 AAC 110.130(c)(2) 
 
The proposed expanded boundaries of the City of Dillingham may not include entire 
geographical regions or large unpopulated areas, except if those boundaries are justified by the 
application of standards in 3 AAC 110.090 – 3 AAC 110.135 and are otherwise suitable for city 
government.   
 
The commission finds that the proposed expanded boundaries of the city do not fit the definition 
of “region” because the proposed expanded boundaries of the city do not encompass a borough, 
or have multiple communities that share common attributes. The existing land based 
communities other than Dillingham are outside the proposed expanded boundaries of the city. 
 
 The commission finds that the proposed expanded boundaries of the city do not meet the 
definition of “area” because they do not describe a borough. They are not even a proposed 
borough because the model borough boundaries for Bristol Bay exceed that of the proposed 
expanded boundaries of the city. 
 
The commission further finds that the municipal area is extensively populated year round 
without the addition of the “seasonal community.”  The proposed expanded boundaries of the 
city are also populated during the annual fishing season. The LBC finds that any contention 
about whether the proposed expanded boundaries of the city include large unpopulated areas is 
moot for reasons explained below. 
 
The commission concludes that the petition meets the standards of 3 AAC 110.090 - 3 AAC 
110.135, and are otherwise suitable for city government. Per 3 AAC 110.130(c)(2), because the 
petition meets those two criteria, the provision that annexation may not include entire 
geographical regions or large unpopulated areas does not apply.  
 

5. 3 AAC 110.130(d) 
 
3 AAC 110.130(d) states that “if a petition for annexation to a city describes boundaries 
overlapping the boundaries of an existing organized borough, the petition for annexation must 
also address and comply with the standards and procedures for either annexation of the enlarged 
city to the existing organized borough or detachment of the enlarged city from the existing 

Page 153 of 262



LBC Decision  
City of Dillingham Annexation 
Page 9 

organized borough.  If a petition for annexation to a city describes boundaries overlapping the 
boundaries of another existing city, the petition for annexation must also address and comply 
with the standards and procedures for detachment of territory from a city, merger of cities, or 
consolidation of cities.” 
 
This annexation petition does not describe boundaries overlapping the boundaries of an existing 
organized borough or another existing city.  For that reason the petition does not need to address 
the standards and procedures for annexation of the enlarged city to the existing organized 
borough, detachment of the enlarged city from the existing organized borough, detachment of 
territory from an existing city, merger of cities, or consolidation of cities. 
 
We find that the overlapping boundary standard is satisfied for territory proposed for annexation. 
 
F. 3 AAC 110.135.  Best Interests of the State. 
 
The commission believes that the uniqueness of the territory proposed for annexation coupled 
with the longstanding tribal, cultural, and economic relationships that persist in this region 
demanded that additional conversation among the villages, tribal entities, municipalities, and the 
City of Dillingham be held.  These conversations were for the long term benefit of the existing 
cultural relationships between the City of Dillingham and the communities around Nushagak 
Bay.  
 
Accordingly, at the April 26 – 27 LBC decisional meeting, the LBC conditionally approved the 
petition.  The condition was that: 

“Petitioner shall attempt to meet with the cities of Aleknagik, Clark’s Point, New Stuyahok, Ekwok, and 
Manokotak, and New Koliganek Village Council (dba Native Village of Koliganek) and the respondent 
Native Village of Ekuk regarding post-annexation financial matters affecting such parties due to the 
annexation[;] and file a report of the meeting attempts, whether or not held, and meetings held, if any, with 
the LBC by [no later than] 11/15/2011.”  

 
The required report’s due date was changed to November 30, 2011, per both parties’ request. 
 
Respondent had filed a reconsideration request (See “Reconsideration by the Commission” 
below).   On October 13, 2011, the LBC approved Respondent’s reconsideration request that the 
decision would be considered final only after the condition was satisfied.  The LBC also placed 
the condition under 3 AAC 110.135. 
 
On November 152, LBC staff received an 83 page report from Petitioner City of Dillingham 
(hereafter “Petitioner” or “Dillingham”).  The report was timely filed.  The report included text, 
logs, and letters documenting the attempted or made contacts.  Petitioner sent each of the 
specified entities a certified letter inviting discussion.  This was followed by other conversations 
and letters.  On October 6, Dillingham held a meeting with many local communities and entities.   
 
On November 30, 2011, the LBC met in a duly noticed public meeting.  We found that Petitioner 
made many efforts to discuss post-annexation financial matters with the specified entities.  The 
petitioner did meet or attempted to meet with the specified entities.  We find that the petitioner 
met the condition in both letter and spirit.  
 

Regarding 3 AAC 110.135 overall, 3 AAC 110.135 examines AS 29.06.040(a)’s best interests of 
the state requirement.   
 
                                                 
2 Petitioner states that it emailed the report on November 15, but LBC staff did not get it until the 16th.  LBC staff 
was experiencing computer problems which could have delayed the transmission.  It does not matter which of the 
two days the report arrived because the petitioner had until November 30 to submit the report.  It met that deadline 
by two weeks. 

Page 154 of 262



LBC Decision  
City of Dillingham Annexation 
Page 10 

Alaska’s constitution promotes maximum local government with a minimum of local 
government units and prevention of duplication of tax levying jurisdictions.  (Article X, §1).  The 
commission finds that the proposed annexation would have no effect upon the number of local 
government units.   
 
The annexation further meets the best interests of the state requirement because the city is the 
appropriate government for the territory. The rest of the region’s communities need a stronger 
regional hub for their sustainability. The annexation is necessary to sustain the city, thereby 
sustaining the regional hub. If the city were to continue its fiscal course, without annexation 
approval, the state could be forced to step in and assist Dillingham in order to maintain the 
economic integrity of the city and region. This would not be in the state’s best interests. 
Dillingham is the hub of the Nushagak Bay region.  
 
The city is the appropriate government for the territory because the rest of the region’s 
communities need a stronger regional hub for their sustainability. We find that the city of 
Dillingham is the appropriate government for the territory because the city is the region’s hub, 
because the annexation could encourage, not hinder, borough formation, because the proposed 
annexation would have no effect upon the number of local government units, and because 
approving the annexation petition does not remove any present or future fish tax revenue for 
existing communities or a future borough. 
 
For all of the above reasons, including that the condition was met, we find that the petition 
satisfies 3 AAC 110.135’s requirement that the annexation must be in the best interests of the 
state under AS.06.040(a). 
 
The LBC wishes to clarify an earlier point.  In our discussion of 3 AAC 110.135 (“Best Interests 
of the State”) in the reconsideration decision, a narrow interpretation of 3 AAC 110.570* was 
followed.  We stated that the LBC could only impose a condition if it enabled an otherwise 
deficient petition to then meet the standards. 
 
But, it seems to us that our interpretation of 3 AAC 110.570 was too narrow, particularly with 
the broad language of AS 29.06.040(a)** and caselaw.  The very narrow interpretation of the 
regulation is superseded by the broader language of the statute and the caselaw.  The regulation 
cannot contravene the statute.  The LBC has a great deal of discretion and may amend a petition 
or impose a condition on a petition, as long as the amended or conditioned petition meets 
applicable standards under the state constitution and commission regulations and is in the best 
interests of the state.   
 
This doesn’t change our overall finding that the decision was not final until the condition was 
met.  We merely say that the LBC’s power to amend or alter is not as limited as the 
reconsideration decision suggests. 

*3 AAC 110.570. Decisional meeting  

(c) If the commission determines that a proposed change must be altered or a condition must be 
satisfied to meet the standards contained in the Constitution of the State of Alaska, AS 29.04, AS 
29.05, AS 29.06, or this chapter, and be in the best interests of the state, the commission may alter 
or attach a condition to the proposed change and accept the petition as altered or conditioned. 

** Sec. 29.06.040. Municipal boundary changes. 

(a) The Local Boundary Commission may consider any proposed municipal boundary change. The 
commission may amend the proposed change and may impose conditions on the proposed change. 
If the commission determines that the proposed change, as amended or conditioned if appropriate, 
meets applicable standards under the state constitution and commission regulations and is in the 
best interests of the state, it may accept the proposed change. Otherwise, it shall reject the 
proposed change. A Local Boundary Commission decision under this subsection may be appealed 
under AS 44.62 (Administrative Procedure Act). 

Page 155 of 262

http://www.legis.state.ak.us/basis/folioproxy.asp?url=http://wwwjnu01.legis.state.ak.us/cgi-bin/folioisa.dll/aac/query=%5bGroup+!273+aac+110!2E570!27!3A%5d/doc/%7b@1%7d/hits_only?firsthit
http://www.legis.state.ak.us/basis/folioproxy.asp?url=http://wwwjnu01.legis.state.ak.us/cgi-bin/folioisa.dll/stattx10/query=%5bJUMP:'AS2904000'%5d/doc/%7b@1%7d?firsthit
http://www.legis.state.ak.us/basis/folioproxy.asp?url=http://wwwjnu01.legis.state.ak.us/cgi-bin/folioisa.dll/stattx10/query=%5bJUMP:'AS2905000'%5d/doc/%7b@1%7d?firsthit
http://www.legis.state.ak.us/basis/folioproxy.asp?url=http://wwwjnu01.legis.state.ak.us/cgi-bin/folioisa.dll/stattx10/query=%5bJUMP:'AS2905000'%5d/doc/%7b@1%7d?firsthit
http://www.legis.state.ak.us/basis/folioproxy.asp?url=http://wwwjnu01.legis.state.ak.us/cgi-bin/folioisa.dll/stattx10/query=%5bJUMP:'AS2906000'%5d/doc/%7b@1%7d?firsthit


LBC Decision  
City of Dillingham Annexation 
Page 11 

 
 
G. 3 AAC 110.900.  Transition. 
 
3 AAC 110.900 concerns whether the transition plan contains all the required information, and 
that all required actions were undertaken to prepare for a smooth transition.  There are six parts 
to 3 AAC 110.900 that the commission reviewed. 
 
The commission considers the prospective transition of extending essential city services into the 
territories proposed for annexing to be elementary and uncomplicated.  In particular, the 
commission notes that annexation would not involve the transfer of assets or liabilities from one 
local government to another.   
 
The commission finds that 3 AAC 110.900’s requirements have been satisfied with respect to the 
current annexation proposal based on the rationale below. 
 

1. 3 AAC 110.900(a) 
 
3 AAC 110.900(a) requires the petition to include a practical plan demonstrating the capacity of 
the annexing city to extend essential city services into the territories proposed for annexation in 
the shortest practical time after the effective date of the proposed annexation.  The proposed 
annexation would occur in the unorganized borough, and does not involve any service areas. 
There is not a considerable amount of transition necessary. Notwithstanding, the LBC deems that 
3 AAC 110.900(a) has been satisfied because the petition includes a transition plan. 
 

2. 3 AAC 110.900(b) 
 
3 AAC 110.900(b) requires that the petition include a practical plan for the assumption of all 
relevant and appropriate powers, duties, rights, and functions presently exercised by an existing 
borough, city, unorganized borough service area, or other appropriate entity located within the 
boundaries proposed for change.   
 
The commission finds that there is a transition plan and that the city indicates in its transition 
plan when the transition would occur. The commission finds that there is very little external 
transition to be done, but that the transition plan was prepared in consultation with the officials 
of each existing borough, city, and unorganized borough service area. We find that the plan was 
designed to affect an orderly, efficient, and economical transfer within the shortest practical time, 
not to exceed two years after the effective date of the proposed change. We find that 3 
AAC 110.900(b) has been satisfied. 
 

3. 3 AAC 110.900(c) 
 

3 AAC 110.900(c) requires that the petition must include a practical plan for the transfer and 
integration of all relevant and appropriate assets and liabilities of an existing borough, city, 
unorganized borough service area, and other entity located within the boundaries proposed for 
annexation.  Here, a plan to transfer assets and liabilities is a moot subject because there are no 
assets or liabilities that would be affected.   
 

4. 3 AAC 110.900(d) 
 
3 AAC 110.900(d) allows the LBC to condition approval upon executing an agreement for 
assuming powers, duties, rights, and functions, and for the transfer and integration of assets and 
liabilities. The Local Boundary Commission moved to alter the petition as follows: Petitioner 

Page 156 of 262



LBC Decision  
City of Dillingham Annexation 
Page 12 

shall attempt to meet with [the] cities of Aleknagik, Clark’s Point, New Stuyahok, Ekwok, and 
Manokotak, and the entities of  New Koliganek Village Council (DBA Native Village of 
Koliganek) and respondent Native Village of Ekuk regarding post-annexation financial matters 
affecting such parties due to the annexation[;] and file a report of the meeting attempts, whether 
or not held, and meetings held, if any, with the LBC by [no later than] 11/30/2011. 
 
The purpose of this condition is an attempt by the Local Boundary Commission to allow all 
communities within the region directly affected by this annexation the opportunity to discuss the 
financial effects and potential remedies with the petitioner.  
 

5. 3 AAC 110.900(e) 
 

The transition plan must state the names and titles of all officials of each existing 
borough, city, and unorganized borough service area that were consulted by the 
petitioner. The dates on which that consultation occurred and the subject addressed 
during that consultation must also be listed.  The transition plan did state the names and 
titles of all officials consulted by the petitioner as required by 3 AAC 110.900(e).  The 
commission finds that the requirements of 3 AAC 110.900(e) have been met. 
 
 

6. 3 AAC 110.900(f) 
 
If a petitioner has requested consultation, and borough officials have declined to consult or were 
unavailable during reasonable times, the petitioner may ask the LBC to waive that requirement.  
As no such request was received, no such waiver was granted. 
 
H. 3 AAC 110.910.  Statement of Nondiscrimination 
 
As provided by 3 AAC 110.910, an annexation proposal may not be approved by the 
commission if the effect of the annexation would deny any person the enjoyment of any civil or 
political right, including voting rights, because of race, color, creed, sex, or national origin. 
 
We find no evidence that the effect of the proposed change denies any person the enjoyment of 
any civil or political right, including voting rights, because of race, color, creed, sex, or national 
origin.  
 
I. 3 AAC 110.970.  Determination of Essential Municipal Services. 
 
Essential municipal services were discussed under 3 AAC 110.090.  The essential municipal 
services must be reasonably necessary to the community, promote maximum, local self-
government, and cannot be provided more efficiently and more effectively by the creation or 
modification of some other political subdivision of the state. 

 The commission finds that the harbor, with its docks and support facilities, is an essential 
municipal service under the circumstances. We find that it is reasonably necessary to the 
community. We find this because Dillingham is the largest port in Nushagak Bay, or for quite a 
distance beyond Nushagak Bay. We find that the docks and related facilities are city owned and 
maintained, and are essential to the fishers, as either a place to resupply, to seek refuge from 
weather, and for other boat or crew needs. 
 
We find that 3 AAC 110.970(d) includes “levying and collecting taxes” and “public safety 
protection” as services which the LBC can consider to be essential municipal services, and we 
consider them to also be essential municipal services here.  We find that the petition has met 3 
AAC 110.970’s requirements. 
 

Page 157 of 262



LBC Decision  
City of Dillingham Annexation 
Page 13 

J. 3 AAC 110.981.  Determination of Maximum Local Self-Government. 
 

The approval of this petition extends city government to the territory proposed for annexation 
where no government currently exists. The commission finds that fishers already benefit from 
the municipal services the city currently provides. Further, the annexation will extend local 
government to the territory and seasonal population. The commission finds that the proposed 
boundary change promotes maximum local self government under art. X, sec. 1, Constitution of 
the State of Alaska.  
 
K. 3 AAC 110.982.  Minimum Number of Local Government Units.   
 
The commission finds that Alaska’s constitution promotes minimizing the number of local 
government units unless creating additional units are found to serve the best interests of the state. 
Annexing the territory would not increase the number of local government units. Annexation 
would just change the size of the city. The commission finds that if no new local government 
units are created by an approved proposal, then the annexation would promote the principal of a 
minimum number of local government units. The commission finds that this annexation proposal 
will not create new local government units and therefore has met the requirements of 3 AAC 
110.982.  
 

 

SECTION IV 
ORDER OF THE COMMISSION 

 
The commission concludes that all of the relevant standards and requirements for annexation of 
the territory (the Nushagak Bay Commercial Fishing Districts) are satisfied by the City of 
Dillingham’s petition.  At its decisional meeting, the Local Boundary Commission moved to 
alter the petition as follows: Petitioner shall attempt to meet with [the] cities of Aleknagik, 
Clark’s Point, New Stuyahok, Ekwok, and Manokotak, and the entities of  New Koliganek 
Village Council (dba Native Village of Koliganek) and respondent Native Village of Ekuk 
regarding post-annexation financial matters affecting such parties due to the annexation[;] and 
file a report of the meeting attempts, whether or not held, and meetings held, if any, with the 
LBC by [no later than] 11/30/2011.  
 
This petition process has been lengthened in order to increase discussion between the Petitioner, 
and the named communities and entities.  Many LBC meetings have been held concerning the 
petition since the decisional meeting occurred.  Further, we granted reconsideration to the 
Respondent on two points.  Every effort was made in this process to ensure fairness and 
deliberation.  In the end, we found that the condition was met.   
 
In our November 30, 2011 meeting, we found that the condition imposed on the petitioner by the 
LBC has been met, and we granted final approval of the Dillingham annexation petition.  The 
commission approves the June 14, 2010, petition of the City of Dillingham for the annexation of 
approximately 396 square miles of water and 3 square miles of land.   

 

CITY OF DILLINGHAM CORPORATE BOUNDARIES 
 
Beginning at the northwest corner of protracted Section 31, T12S, R55W, Seward Meridian 
(S.M.) (Map of USGS Quad Dillingham A‐7, 1952); Thence, east to the mean high tide line on 
the west bank of the Wood River; Thence, meandering north and northwesterly along a line 
paralleling the mean high tide line of the west bank of the Wood River to the intersection with 59 
degrees 12.11 minutes North Latitude and 158 degrees 33.38 minutes West Longitude; 
Thence, east across the Wood River to mean high tide line on the east bank of the Wood 

Page 158 of 262



LBC Decision  
City of Dillingham Annexation 
Page 14 

River at 59 degrees 12.11 minutes North Latitude and 158 degrees 33.11 minutes West 
Longitude; Thence, meandering south and southeasterly along a line paralleling the mean high 
tide line of the east shore of the Wood River and the northeastern shore of the Nushagak River to 
the intersection with R55W, S.M.; Thence, south along the eastern boundary of protracted 
Sections 12, 13, and 24, T13N, R55W, S.M. to the intersection with mean high tide line on the 
southern shore of Nushagak River; Thence, meandering southerly along a line paralleling the 
mean high tide line of the southeastern shore of Nushagak River and Nushagak Bay, including 
Grass Island, and excluding the corporate boundaries of the 2nd class city of Clark's Point (as 
shown on certificate recorded May 11, 1971, in Book XVII, Page 299, Records of the Bristol 
Bay Recording District, Third Judicial District), to a point at 58 degrees 39.37 minutes North 
Latitude and 158 degrees 19.31 minutes West Longitude; Thence, southwesterly to 58 degrees 
33.92 minutes North Latitude and 158 degrees 24.94 minutes West Longitude; Thence, 
southwesterly to 58 degrees 29.27 minutes North Latitude and 158 degrees 41.78 minutes West 
Longitude at mean high tide line along the east shore of Nushagak Bay; Thence, meandering 
northerly along a line paralleling the mean high tide line to a point at the intersection of mean 
high tide line and the Igushik River at 58 degrees 43.841 minutes North Latitude and 158 
degrees 53.926 minutes West Longitude; Thence, easterly across the Igushik River to a point at 
the intersection of the Igushik River’s mean high tide line on its eastern shore at 58 degrees 
43.904 minutes North Latitude and 158 degrees 52.818 minutes West Longitude; Thence, 
meandering northerly along a line paralleling the mean high tide line of Nushagak Bay to a point 
at the intersection of mean high tide line and the western shore of the Snake River at 58 degrees 
52.879 minutes North Latitude and 158 degrees 46.710 minutes West Longitude; Thence, 
easterly across the Snake River to a point at the intersection of the Snake River’s mean high tide 
line on its eastern shore at 58 degrees 52.988 minutes North Latitude and 158 degrees 46.030 
minutes West Longitude; Thence, meandering north easterly along a line paralleling the mean 
high tide line of Nushagak Bay to the intersection with the line common to the northwest corner 
of protracted T14S, R56W, S.M. (USGS map of Quad Nushagak Bay D-2, 1952, minor revision 
1985); Thence, west along the northern boundary of protracted Sections 1, 2, and 3, T14N, 
R56W, S.M. (USGS map of Quad Nushagak Bay D-2, 1952, minor revision 1985) to the 
northwest corner of Section 3; Thence, north to the northwest corner of protracted Section 3, 
T13S, R56W, S.M. (USGS map of Quad Nushagak Bay D-2, 1952, minor revision 1985); 
Thence, west to the protracted southwest corner of Section 31,T12S, RSSW, S.M. (USGS map of 
Quad Dillingham A-7, 1952); Thence, north to the northwest corner of protracted Section 31, 
T12S, RSSW, S.M., the point of beginning, containing approximately 36.84 square miles of land 
and 397.94 square miles of water, more or less, all within in the Third Judicial District, Alaska 
(USGS map of Quad Dillingham A-7, 1952). 
 
Approved in writing this 14th day of December, 2011. 
 
LOCAL BOUNDARY COMMISSION 
 
 

By:                                         x 
 Lynn Chrystal, Chair 
 
 
Attest: 
By:                                ___    x 
 Brent Williams, Staff 

 

Page 159 of 262



LBC Decision  
City of Dillingham Annexation 
Page 15 

 

 

 

RECONSIDERATION BY THE COMMISSION 
 
3 AAC 110.580 (Reconsideration) states that:  
 

“(a)  Within 18 days after a written statement of decision is mailed under 3 AAC 110.570(f), a person may 
file an original and five copies of a request for reconsideration of all or part of that decision, describing in 
detail the facts and analyses that support the request for reconsideration.” and,   
 
“(b) Within 30 days after a written statement of decision is mailed under 3 AAC 110.570(f), the 
commission may, on its own motion, order reconsideration of all or part of that decision.” 

 
On April 26, 2011, in accordance with 3 AAC 110.570, the LBC held a duly noticed decisional 
meeting regarding the City of Dillingham’s annexation petition.  The commission voted 5 to 0 to 
conditionally approve the annexation petition, as allowed under 3 AAC 110.570(c)(1).  

On June 10, 2011, the respondent Native Village of Ekuk filed a request for reconsideration.  
The reconsideration request was received within the 18 day period outlined in 3 AAC 
110.580(a). The request had seven points.  LBC staff (staff) notified the commissioners of the 
request.   

The commission met on June 24, 2011, to discuss the requested reconsideration.  Both parties 
were given the opportunity to speak (only the respondent was present and spoke).  The LBC 
approved by a 4-0 vote to reconsider the annexation decision to address matters of a controlling 
principle of law concerning points 1 and 2 only.   

Point 1 requested the LBC to reconsider its decisional statement and correct it to make it clear 
that it will be considered a final decision only after the condition has been satisfied.  Point 2 
requested that the LBC reconsider the statement of decision and accurately and faithfully include 
all of the major considerations leading to the decision as required by regulation. 

The LBC voted then 4-0 to relax the regulations to allow either party to provide a brief 
concerning reconsideration within 10 days after receiving the minutes.  Both parties’ briefs were 
timely received.  The staff then wrote a report analyzing the briefs and sent the report to the 
commission on September 28, 2011.  The report recommended that the LBC approve 
reconsideration on points 1 and 2.  The report said that: 

 
Staff believes the intent of the commission in placing the conditional approval on the petitioner needs to be 
clear to all parties. The condition’s intent must be adhered to in order for any approval of the petition to 
meet the needs of the petitioner, respondent, and ultimately the affected communities and individuals. If the 
petitioner truly puts forth a good faith effort to satisfy the condition, as indicated in the respondent’s brief,  
 
“… it may come to pass that the respondent will no longer be aggrieved by the annexation and an appeal 
will no longer be necessary. Therefore, it makes good sense and promotes judicial economy, for the 
commission to retain jurisdiction until after the parties go through the process mandated by the 
commission.” 
 
We recommend that the LBC approve the point 1 reconsideration request to make the petition final upon 
determining whether the condition is met or not. We recommend that the LBC meet after the petitioner 
submits its report, in order to determine whether the petitioner met the condition. We further recommend 
that the LBC grant the point 2 reconsideration request by making the condition part of 3 AAC 110.135. We 
recommend that the LBC limit the reconsideration of points 1 and 2 to those grounds. 

 

Page 160 of 262



LBC Decision  
City of Dillingham Annexation 
Page 16 

On October 4, 2011, the LBC met to discuss whether or not to approve the reconsideration.  The 
LBC voted to approve reconsideration of point 1 by a 5 – 0 vote.  The LBC voted to approve 
reconsideration of point 2 by a 5 – 0 vote. 

 

Per 3 AAC 110.580(a) “within 18 days after a written statement of decision is mailed under 3 
AAC 110.570(f), a person may file an original and five copies of a request for reconsideration of 
all or part of the decision, describing in detail the facts and analyses that support the request for 
reconsideration.”   

 

Per 3 AAC 110.580(e) “the commission will grant a request for reconsideration or, on its own 
motion, order reconsideration of a decision only if the commission determines that 

 
(1)  a substantial procedural error occurred in the original proceeding; 
(2) the original vote was based on fraud or misrepresentation; 
(3) the commission failed to address a material issue of fact or a controlling principle of law; 

or 
(4) new evidence not available at the time of the hearing relating to a matter of significant 

public policy has become known.” 
 

Additionally, per 3 AAC 110.580(f) “if the commission does not act on a request for 
reconsideration within 30 days after the decision was mailed under 3 AAC 110.570(f), the 
request is automatically denied.” 
 
Also, per 3 AAC 110.580(f) “if the commission orders reconsideration or grants a request for 
reconsideration within 30 days after the decision was mailed under 3 AAC 110.570(f), the 
commission will allow a petitioner or respondent 10 days after the date reconsideration is 
ordered or the request for reconsideration is granted to file an original and five copies of a 
responsive brief describing in detail the facts and analyses that support or oppose the decision 
being reconsidered.”   

 

JUDICIAL APPEAL 
 
Per 3 AAC 110.620, “a final decision of the commission made under the Constitution of the 
State of Alaska, AS 29.04, AS 29.05, AS 29.06, or this chapter may be appealed to the superior 
court in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act (AS 44.62).”  Please note that AS 
44.62.560 requires that “the notice of appeal shall be filed within 30 days after the last day on 
which reconsideration can be ordered, and served on each party to the proceeding.”   

Page 161 of 262



Petition for Annexation to the City of Dillingham                          June 14, 2010 as  
Page 109 of 195           revised October 16, 2014   

   

EXHIBIT J.  CONSULTATION REPORT 
 

(84 pages, begins next page) 

Page 162 of 262



Page 163 of 262



 
Report to Local Boundary Commission on     page 1 
City of Dillingham Attempts to Consult on Post Annexation Financial Matters  November 15, 2011 

City of Dillingham Consultation Report  
to the Alaska Local Boundary Commission 
on Post‐Annexation Financial Matters 

 
 
The City of Dillingham has been attempting to consult with neighboring communities on 
post annexation financial matters and is filing this report on its efforts.   
 
The Local Boundary Commission (LBC) altered the City of Dillingham annexation petition 
by adding the following condition:  

 
“Petitioner shall attempt to meet with the cities of Aleknagik, Clark’s Point, New 
Stuyahok, Ekwok, and Manokotak, and New Koliganek Village Council (dba Native 
Village of Koliganek) and the respondent Native Village of Ekuk regarding post‐
annexation financial matters affecting such parties due to the annexation[;] and 
file a report of the meeting attempts, whether or not held, and meetings held, if 
any, with the LBC by [no later than] 11/15/2011 (later changed to 11/30/2011).1 ” 

 
The LBC clarified in October that approval of the annexation petition was contingent upon 
submittal of this report2.   
 
Dillingham has been formally consulting with residents and neighbors on post annexation 
financial matters for over a year.   
 
This includes good faith effort to attempt to consult many times since the April 26 LBC 
decisional meeting in Dillingham.  
 
In addition to formal consultation, informal conversation on these matters occur 
frequently at venues from our grocery store aisles to workplace coffee breaks to 
discussions in the evening after regional gatherings of the “BBs” that bring village 
residents into Dillingham during the year.   
 
Submittal of this report to the LBC does not end Dillingham’s consultations. 
 
We are committed to continuing these conversations between now and the annexation 
election, and, after the election.   

                                                       
1  Local Boundary Commission Decision, May 26, 2011, in the Matter of the June 14, 2010, Petition by the 
City of Dillingham to annex approximately 396 square miles of submerged land and 3 square miles of land; 
pg 12. 
 
2  Local Boundary Commission Reconsideration Decision, October 14, 2011; pg 5  

Page 164 of 262



 
Report to Local Boundary Commission on     page 2 
City of Dillingham Attempts to Consult on Post Annexation Financial Matters  November 15, 2011 

This report has three sections: 

1. Attempts to consult on post‐financial annexation matters prior to the April 25‐26 
LBC public hearing and decisional meeting3;  

2. Attempts to consult on post‐financial annexation matters after the LBC decisional 
meeting, between April 27 and November 5, 2011; and  

3. Continued consultation on post‐financial annexation matters after filing this 
Report with the LBC.  

 
1.  Attempts to Consult on Post Financial Annexation Matters Prior  

to April 25‐26 LBC Public Hearing And Decisional Meeting. 
 
The City of Dillingham knew that annexation, including the proposed local fish tax, would 
be of concern to neighboring village residents as well as Dillingham residents.  
 
Informational Meetings 
 
In order to discuss these matters, Dillingham representatives reached out to neighboring 
communities to hold Informational Meetings.  Approximately 50 residents attended one 
of the Informational meetings (sign‐in sheets and meeting summaries for most of these 
meetings are found in Attachment One). 
Dillingham City Council members:     

1. Hosted a radio call‐in show on KDLG4 FM/AM on August 2, 2010  
2. Hosted an Informational Meeting in Dillingham on August 2, 2010  
3. Drove/boated in to Aleknagik to hold an Informational Meeting on August 3, 2010  
4. Chartered a plane and flew in to Clark’s Point to host an Informational Meeting on 

August 4, 2010  
5. Chartered a plane and flew to City of Manokotak to host an Informational Meeting 

on August 17, 2010  
6. Hosted an Informational Meeting at Curyung Tribal Council office on August 10, 

2010 
7. The Dillingham City Clerk/Manager spoke with Robert Heyano of the Ekuk Tribal 

Council several times in August to set up an Informational Meeting, but they were 
never able to settle on a date. 

 
Main points discussed at these meetings were: 

a. Most did not understand, but now do understand that: 
                                                       
3 Dillingham recognizes that the Commission was concerned regarding whether sufficient outreach had 
occurred prior to the annexation hearing so includes this section even though it technically is not required 
by the Commission’s annexation decision.  
 
4 KDLG’s signal reaches from Dillingham to all villages in the region including all communities identified in 
the consultation condition adopted by the Commission. 

Page 165 of 262



 
Report to Local Boundary Commission on     page 3 
City of Dillingham Attempts to Consult on Post Annexation Financial Matters  November 15, 2011 

o Dillingham will get no additional state fish tax from the annexation 
o that local fish taxes (as proposed) are based on where fish is harvested, in 

contrast to the state tax which is based on where fish is processed, 
o that the Nushagak is essentially the only fishing district in the region where 

there is no local fish tax, and 
o that local fish taxes are bringing in $16 million (in 2009) to sustain 

communities in this region – this revenue is escaping Dillingham and the 
Nushagak. 

b. Many feel it is unfair that Dillingham gets all the revenue when some of it will be 
collected from their community fishermen; they asked if there is a way to share 
some of the revenue with Nushagak communities, or find ways to spend some of 
the revenue to benefit villagers, or to benefit local fisheries. Several ideas for this 
were suggested. 

c. At every meeting some asked whether there was a way or was Dillingham 
planning to tax sport fish. 

d. Sharing revenue makes some think about borough formation, but that is not what 
is proposed here. 

 
Resolution to Establish Regional Fisheries Improvement Fund 
 
In direct response to the post‐annexation financial matters discussed at the Aleknagik, 
Clarks Point and Manokotak meetings and other comments, the City of Dillingham 
adopted Resolution 2010‐85 on October 7, 2010, to establish a Regional Fisheries 
Improvement Fund effective with the Implementation of a Local Raw Fish 
Sales/Severance Tax.  
 
This is the not necessarily the final or only effort in this regard, but Dillingham wished to 
make an immediate response and indicate its willingness to seek advice and include 
neighboring communities in making capital improvements with raw fish tax money that 
will improve and enhance the Nushagak Bay fishing experience, opportunity and value.  
 
Annexation Workshops 
 
The City of Dillingham City Council also held six Annexation Workshops to discuss the 
developing petition and answer questions.  All workshops were advertised and open to 
the public.5    
 
                                                       
5  Dillingham City Council workshops, special and regular meetings are advertised on KDLG (thereby 
providing notice to all villages in the region), posted at the post office and N&N Market bulletin boards and 
in the City lobby, and a calendar is distributed via email to about 30 email addresses that reach various 
businesses around town including  Southwest Region School District, Bristol Bay Area Health Corporation 
(BBAHC), Bristol Bay Economic Development Corporation (BBEDC), and Bristol Bay Native Association 
(BBNA).  
 

Page 166 of 262



 
Report to Local Boundary Commission on     page 4 
City of Dillingham Attempts to Consult on Post Annexation Financial Matters  November 15, 2011 

Annexation Workshops were held on:  
1. March 17, 2009  
2. April 27, 2009 
3. October 15, 2009 
4. January 27, 2010 
5. June 23, 2010 
6. October 7, 2010 

 
Public Outreach Committee Meetings 
 
The City Council has a Public Outreach Committee.  During summer 2010 through today 
most committee meetings have at least partly been about annexation.  All committee 
meetings are advertised, including announcements on KDLG,  and open to the public.  At 
these meetings committee members  discussed comments and concerns they were 
hearing from the public, how to provide information and address concerns, and options 
for the Council to consider based on concerns, and more. During every Public Outreach 
Committee meeting there is an opportunity for the public to ask questions. 
 
Public Outreach Committee Meetings that included annexation on the agenda occurred 
on: 

1. September 16, 2009 
2. October 15, 2009 
3. January 28, 2010 
4. March 23, 2010 
5. April 13, 2010 
6. May 11, 2010 
7. June 8, 2010 
8. September 23, 2010 
9. October 4, 2010 
10. December 20, 2010 
11. January 11, 2011 
12. March 18, 2011 
13. March 30, 2011 

 
Neighborhood Meetings 
 
A total of 74 residents attended one or more neighborhood meetings. City Council 
members attended six publicly noticed neighborhood meetings to continue to reach out 
to residents to explain the petition, answer questions, and seek concerns that the Council 
should consider. Neighborhood meetings were held on:  

1. March 31, 2011 at City Council Chambers 
2. April 4, 2011 at Seventh Day Adventist School 
3. April 11, 2011 at Assembly of God Church 
4. April 12, 2011 at Lutheran Church 

Page 167 of 262



 
Report to Local Boundary Commission on     page 5 
City of Dillingham Attempts to Consult on Post Annexation Financial Matters  November 15, 2011 

5. April 13, 2011 at Dillingham Elementary Gym 
6. April 14, 2011 at Bristol Bay Housing Authority 

 
Other Publicly Noticed Meetings to Discuss Annexation 
 
In addition, the topic of annexation appeared under Unfinished Business at the following 
council meetings: 

1. April 15, 2010 
2. June 17, 2010 
3. August 5, 2010 
4. October 7, 2010 
5. December 9, 2010 
6. January 6, 2011 
7. February 3, 2011 
8. March 3, 2011 
9. April 13, 2011 

 
2.  Attempts to Consult on Post Financial Annexation Matters Between  
April 27 ‐ November 7, 2011: as required by Local Boundary Commission  

 
Efforts to consult with neighboring communities continued after the Local Boundary 
Commission meeting in late April on the Dillingham annexation petition. These efforts are 
summarized on Table One.  To ensure compliance with the LBC direction at the decisional 
meeting, Dillingham initiated a log book (Table One) to record all attempts to consult, and 
filled‐in a consultation log form documenting attempted and successful communication.   
Consultation Log Forms can be reviewed at Attachment Two.  
 
Highlights of the Attempt to Consult on Post Annexation Financial Matters include: 
 
• In late May Dillingham sent seven certified letters inviting consultation (example 

letter on next page):  
1. Mayor Moses Toyukak Sr, City of Manokotak 
2. Mayor Berna Andrews, City of Aleknagik 
3. Mayor Harry Wassily Sr, City of Clarks Point 
4. Mr. Robert Heyano, President, Ekuk Village Council 
5. Mr. Herman Nelson Sr, President, New Koliganek Village Council  
6. Mayor Randy Hastings, City of New Stuyahok 
7. Mayor Julie Brandon, City of Ekwok 

 
• On June 15, Robert Heyano stopped by Alice Ruby’s office to say that affected cities 

and tribal entities met, except Aleknagik, and agreed that they want to meet with the 
City of Dillingham as a group. Each of them will go back to their entity and send a 
letter or resolution to the City that confirms the same. Helen Foster, Ekuk Village 

Page 168 of 262



 
Report to Local Boundary Commission on     page 6 
City of Dillingham Attempts to Consult on Post Annexation Financial Matters  November 15, 2011 

Council, is drafting a letter to Alice to advise Dillingham of their meeting and mutual 
decision.  He thinks that we will probably receive the letter from Ekuk and hopefully 
the other affected community entities before fishing. He indicated that they don't 
plan to identify a specific date to meet but it's likely that a meeting won't be able to 
be coordinated until after fishing. (See 6/15/11 log form).   

 
However, other than this verbal report from Robert to Alice, no letters or resolutions 
from any entity were received by Dillingham. 
 

Example of Individualized Letters sent in Late May 2011 
   

Page 169 of 262



 
Report to Local Boundary Commission on     page 7 
City of Dillingham Attempts to Consult on Post Annexation Financial Matters  November 15, 2011 

• On July 29, Dillingham City Clerk Janice Williams and Robert Heyano spoke by phone. 
Janice said Dillingham has not received any communication from any entity about 
meeting. Robert said he had not either.  Janice said Dillingham would write to Robert 
and cc the other communities now that fishing was over to ask again about meeting 
to discuss post annexation financial matters. (see 7/29/11 log form) 

 
• On August 2 City of Dillingham sent a letter to Robert Heyano and copy to all other 

entities identified by LBC to suggest a meeting to discuss post annexation financial  
matters.  Letter sent to Robert and copied to others to respect his role in helping to 
organize community meeting.  

 
 

Page 170 of 262



 
Report to Local Boundary Commission on     page 8 
City of Dillingham Attempts to Consult on Post Annexation Financial Matters  November 15, 2011 

• On August 11 Robert Heyano met with Alice Ruby to clarify that in early June, 
communities had not formally agreed, rather there was a representative of each of 
the communities referenced in his letter, at the meeting. Those representatives 
agreed that a joint meeting was preferable. Each of those representatives was 
supposed to go back to their respective organizations and seek concurrence to 
proceed in that manner. Robert has not heard from the communities about whether 
their formally organizations agreed to a joint meeting. Robert confirmed that Ekuk is 
ready to move ahead with the joint meeting. (see 8/11/11 log form)  

 
• August 31. Dillingham is trying to respect process communities apparently want to 

use to meet jointly, but very concerned about not hearing back from entities (except 
Ekuk) after sending out two certified letters asking to consult.  While Dillingham is 
completely open to a joint meeting with communities, decision is made to pursue 
individual phone conversations or meetings to attempt to consult with all.  

 
• August 31‐September 16.  A determined effort is made to contact the mayor, 

president, or a representative from the seven entities named by LBC. See numerous 
log books, many places were called 3‐5 times on different days and at different times. 
Messages were always left. Because of these efforts, the following meetings to 
discuss post annexation financial matters occurred (see individual log forms for 
conversation highlights): 
o September 1. Dan Forster with Moses Toyukak Sr, President, Manokotak Village 

Council (Moses says he has not been mayor for awhile) 
o September 2. Bob Himschoot, Dan Forster, and Keggie Tubbs (Dillingham) and 

Robert Heyano, President, Native Village of Ekuk 
o September 14.  Dan Forster and City of Aleknagik Mayor Berna Andrews and 

Executive Assistance Kay Andrew 
o September 15. Dan Forster and City of Ekwok Mayor Julie Brandon  

 
• October 3‐5  Letters and delivered between Robert Heyano, Ekuk Native Council and 

Alice Ruby, City of Dillingham trying to set up a meeting among neighboring villages 
for post annexation consultation on financial matters.  

 
• October 23. Robert Heyano and Alice Ruby speak on phone and confirm regional 

meeting to discuss post annexation financial matters on  October 27. (see 10/27/11 
log form)  

 
• October 27. A meeting occurred at the Dillingham Senior Center and was attended by  

Robert Heyano, Ekuk Village Council; Harry Wassily, Clarks Point; Sharon Clark, Clarks 
Point Village Council, Jimmy Coupchiak, Togiak; Ferdinand Sharp, Manokotak; Carl 
Evon, Manokotak; Moses Toyukuk, Manokotak; Alice Ruby, City of Dillingham; Janice 
Williams, City of Dillingham; Jody Seitz, City of Dillingham; Dan Forster, City of 
Dillingham; Keggie Tubbs, City of Dillingham; Bob Himschoot, City of Dillingham;  Via 

Page 171 of 262



 
Report to Local Boundary Commission on     page 9 
City of Dillingham Attempts to Consult on Post Annexation Financial Matters  November 15, 2011 

Teleconference: Luki Akelkok, Ekwok Village Council; Richard King, Ekwok Village 
Council, Kenny Jensen, Ekwok; Herman Nelson, Koliganek Village Council; Dennis 
Andrew, New Stuyahok. 
 
Concerns that have been expressed previously were reiterated, such as: from villages 
concerns over paying a local fish tax, the low income of residents, and objection over 
where their residents fish being within the boundaries of the City of Dillingham; and 
from Dillingham the need for revenue to sustain the community, enhance fishery 
related infrastructure, income that is escaping from the region, and that the 
annexation will have a minimal effect on people’s lives such as the elders in 
Manokotak do not have any reason to be fearful of the City is taking their land. 
 
Ekuk asked if Dillingham would request a delay from the LBC of up to 2 years in 
submitting the Consultation Report and delaying the annexation election so that 
everyone can study and consider forming a borough during this 2‐year 
period. Dillingham responded that it is firm on submitting the Consultation Report in a 
timely manner and in scheduling an annexation election; however, we strongly 
support a borough, have always supported a borough, feel that these efforts can 
occur concurrently, and will join the effort with both time and money.   
 
Dillingham noted that it has been in this position in the past with proposing borough 
formation and each time Dillingham was “left at the altar” while other communities 
walked away.  We are at a point where Dillingham’s council is not willing to put 
ourselves in that position again.  We are committed to going forward with annexation 
and also willing to work together on borough formation, they are not mutually 
exclusive. 
 
We all agreed to meet again. 

 

   

Page 172 of 262



Table One: Log Book ‐ Attempt to Consult of Post Annexation Financial Matters 

 
Report to Local Boundary Commission on     page 10 
City of Dillingham Attempts to Consult on Post Annexation Financial Matters  November 15, 2011 

DATE  ATTEMPT TO CONSULT ACTION  CONTACT  NOTE  USPS Delivery 
Confirmation

05/23/11  Letter ‐ Invitation to meet went out certified mail  Mayor Moses Toyukak Sr  City of Manokotak 5/27/2011
05/23/11  Letter ‐ Invitation to meet went out certified mail  Mayor Berna Andrews  city of Aleknagik 5/31/2011
05/23/11  Letter ‐ Invitation to meet went out certified mail  Mayor Harry Wassily Sr  City of Clarks Point 5/31/2011
05/23/11  Letter ‐ Invitation to meet went out certified mail  Mr. Robert Heyano, President Ekuk Village Council 6/3/2011

05/27/11  Letter ‐ Invitation to meet went out certified mail   Mr. Herman Nelson Sr, President  New Koliganek Village 
Council 

6/2/2011 

05/27/11  Letter ‐ Invitation to meet went out certified mail  Mayor Randy Hastings   City of New Stuyahok 6/2/2011

06/03/11  Letter ‐ Invitation to meet went out certified mail   Mayor Julie Brandon  City of Ekwok  ? ‐ Works at 
Ekwok PO

06/15/11 

Robert Heyano and Alice Ruby. Robert says   
communities met, reps agreed they want to meet 
as a group. They will send a letter or resolution to 
the City. 

Log Report 6/15/2011 
No letters or 
resolutions have been 
received.  

  

07/29/11  Phone call with Robert Heyano and City Clerk. He 
confirms all would like to meet as group.

Log Report 7/29/2011       

08/02/11 
Letter to Robert Heyano regarding setting up 
meeting date; letter recognizes that this will be a 
group meeting.  
Letter is cc'd to all communities.  
Mailed: certified and 1st class.  
** no written response received from anyone 

Mayor Moses Toyukak Sr **   8/11/2011
08/02/11  Mayor Berna Andrews **    8/11/2011
08/02/11  Mayor Harry Wassily Sr **    8/8/2011
08/02/11  Mr. Robert Heyano, President **   8/5/2011
08/02/11  Mr. Herman Nelson Sr, President **   8/8/2011
08/02/11  Mayor Randy Hastings  **    8/11/2011
08/02/11  Mayor Julie Brandon **    8/4/2011

08/11/11  Conversation between Robert Heyano and Alice 
Ruby  Log Report 8/11/2011       

8/13‐8/30  No activity logged 

None of the communities have 
responded back in writing or by 
phone except Robert Heyano on 
8/11/2011

     

08/31, 
09/01, 

Called Mayor Moses Toyukak Sr.  In all cases where 
messages were left, state we will follow up with 

Log Report 8/31/2011  Will be in Dlg Sept. 1 ‐ 
confirmed appt. 5 PM 

  

Page 173 of 262



Table One: Log Book ‐ Attempt to Consult of Post Annexation Financial Matters 

 
Report to Local Boundary Commission on     page 11 
City of Dillingham Attempts to Consult on Post Annexation Financial Matters  November 15, 2011 

DATE  ATTEMPT TO CONSULT ACTION  CONTACT  NOTE  USPS Delivery 
Confirmation

09/02  another phone call in next two days. at City Hall

8/31/2011 
Called Mayor Berna Andrews.  In all cases where 
messages were left, state we will follow up with 
another phone call in next two days.

Log Report 9/2/2011 (8/31, 9/1,9/2)) 
Left voice message 
with City staff and at 
place of work

  

08/31/11, 
09/02/11 

Called Mayor Harry Wassily Sr.  In all cases where 
messages were left, state we will follow up with 
another phone call in next two days.

Log Report 8/31/2011 
Left voice message at 
contact no. ‐ CLP Pt 
Village Council

  

08/31/11 
Called Mr. Robert Heyano, President.  In all cases 
where messages were left, state we will follow up 
with another phone call in next two days.

Log Report 9/2/2011 (8/31, 9/2)) 
Left message with staff 
member at Ekuk Village 
Council

  

08/31/11 
Called Mr. Herman Nelson Sr, President. In all 
cases where messages were left, state we will 
follow up with another phone call in next two days.

Log Report 8/31/2011 
Left voice msg at work ‐ 
N Koliganek Vlg Council 
office 

  

08/31/11 
Called Mayor Randy Hastings.  In all cases where 
messages were left, state we will follow up with 
another phone call in next two days.

Log Report 8/31/2011 
Left voice msg at place 
of work  ‐ City office 
New Stuyahok 

  

08/31/11 
Called Mayor Julie Brandon.  In all cases where 
messages were left, state we will follow up with 
another phone call in next two days. 

Log Report 8/31/2011 

J Williams spoke in 
person; can be reached 
at Post office 11 to 3 
weekdays

  

08/31/11  Checked BBNA's calendar for September  
Meeting Sept. 1 & 2 for Natural 
Resources Dept. Mtg; no other 
events calendared

     

08/31/11  Checked BBAHC's calendar for September  Did not locate a calendar on their 
website ‐ will follow up       

8/31/11, 
9/1/11, 
9/2/11 

Phone calls to Mayor Berna Andrews  Log Report 9/2/2011 (8/31, 9/1,9/2))  Record of calls made 
on 8/31, 9/1 and 9/2    

09/01/11  Met with Moses Toyukak Sr.    Log Report 9/1/2011  Moses has not been 
Mayor for several 

  

Page 174 of 262



Table One: Log Book ‐ Attempt to Consult of Post Annexation Financial Matters 

 
Report to Local Boundary Commission on     page 12 
City of Dillingham Attempts to Consult on Post Annexation Financial Matters  November 15, 2011 

DATE  ATTEMPT TO CONSULT ACTION  CONTACT  NOTE  USPS Delivery 
Confirmation

months. Moses is the 
President of 
Manokotak Village 
Council.

08/31/11, 
09/02/11  Phone calls to Robert Heyano  Log Report 9/2/2011 (8/31, 9/2))  Record of calls made 

on 8/31 and 9/2
  

09/02/11  Met with Robert Heyano    Log Report 9/2/2011 Visit 
B Himschoot, D Forster, 
K Tubbs, R Heyano 
meet

  

09/06/11  Phone call to Mayor Berna Andrews  Log Report 9/6/2011  Left message with City 
staff

  

09/06/11  Phone call to Mayor Randy Hastings (attempt 2)  Log Report 9/6/2011  left voice msg; no 
return call

  

09/06/11  Phone call to Mayor Julie Brandon  Log Report 9/6/2011 
Phone rang and rang 
never went to 
answering machine

  

09/06/11  Phone call to Herman Nelson Sr.  Log Report 9/6/2011  left voice msg; no 
return call

  

09/06/11  Phone call to Mayor Harry Wassily Sr.  Log Report 9/6/2011  left voice msg; no 
return call

  

09/07/11  Phone Calls to Mayor Berna Andrews  Log Report 9/7/2011  Mtg scheduled for 9/9; 
3:30 pm phone

  

09/09/11  Phone Call: Mayor Berna Andrews  Log Report 9/9/2011  Mtg rescheduled for 
9/14; 3:30 pm phone

  

09/09/11  In Person: Mayor Harry Wassily Sr.   Log Report 9/9/2011 

Janice ran into Harry at 
N&N; states he didn't 
have time to meet 
before he returned 
home 
 

  

Page 175 of 262



Table One: Log Book ‐ Attempt to Consult of Post Annexation Financial Matters 

 
Report to Local Boundary Commission on     page 13 
City of Dillingham Attempts to Consult on Post Annexation Financial Matters  November 15, 2011 

DATE  ATTEMPT TO CONSULT ACTION  CONTACT  NOTE  USPS Delivery 
Confirmation

9/12/11, 
09/13/11  Mayor Harry Wassily Sr.   Log Report 9/13/2011 (9/12, 9/13) 

Left voice msgs  ‐ 
Record calls made 9/12 
& 9/13, confirmed he is 
mayor and president

  

09/13/11  Mayor Randy Hastings  Log Report 9/13/2011  Left voice msg; no 
return call

  

09/13/11  Mayor Julie Brandon  Log Report 9/13/2011  Mtg scheduled for 
9/15; 4:00 pm phone

  

09/13/11  Herman Nelson Sr.  Log Report 9/13/2011  left voice msg; no 
return call

  

09/13/11  Mayor Harry Wassily Sr.  Log Report 9/13/2011 (9/12, 9/13) 
staff at Village Council 
confirm he is Mayor & 
Pres.

  

09/14/11  Met with Mayor Berna Andrews  Log Report 9/14/2011  D Forster, B Andrews   

09/15/11  Meet with Mayor Julie Brandon, City of Ekwok  Log Report 9/15/2011  Scheduled for 4 pm, 
Sept. 15

  

10/03/11  Letter hand delivered from Robert Heyano 

Ekuk Village Council is prepared to  
meet. Would prefer to meet 
collectively with other communities 
and City

     

10/04/11  Letter from Mayor Ruby to Robert Heyano 
Mailed and hand‐delivered on 
October 4, 2011. State City would be 
happy to meet with collective group

     

10/05/11 

City Clerk phoned Robert Heyano for possible 
meeting dates. Clerk suggested October 24 when 
people returning from AFN. Robert will work on it 
and contact communities. 

Log Report 10/05/2011       

10/09/11  Meeting with Alice Ruby, Robert Heyano, Keggie 
Tubbs.   Log Report 10/9/2011       

10/14/11  Robert Heyano phoned City Clerk. All but 2  Log Report 10/14/2011     

Page 176 of 262



Table One: Log Book ‐ Attempt to Consult of Post Annexation Financial Matters 

 
Report to Local Boundary Commission on     page 14 
City of Dillingham Attempts to Consult on Post Annexation Financial Matters  November 15, 2011 

DATE  ATTEMPT TO CONSULT ACTION  CONTACT  NOTE  USPS Delivery 
Confirmation

communities Clarks Point and Manokotak can 
meet on October 24. Do we have another date? 

10/14/11  Public Notice and hold City Council Special Meeting 
to Discuss Annexation 

12:30 pm to 4:30 pm in the Council 
Chambers

     

10/23/11 
Phone call from Robert Heyano to Mayor Ruby to 
confirm date/time to meet with the communities.  
October 27 at 6 pm in Senior Center. 

Log Report 10/23/2011       

10/27/11 

Meeting among City of Dillingham and attendees 
from Ekuk Village Council, Clark’s Point, Clark’s 
Point Village Council, Manokotak Village Council, 
City of Aleknagik, Ekwok Village Council and New 
Stuyahok 

Log Report 10/27/2011     

Page 177 of 262



 

 
Report to Local Boundary Commission on     page 15 
City of Dillingham Attempts to Consult on Post Annexation Financial Matters  November 15, 2011 

3. Continued consultation on post‐financial annexation matters                   
after filing this Report with the LBC. 

 
 
There will be continued consultation and conversation after this report is filed with the 
LBC.  
 
Dillingham expects consultation to continue until, and after, the annexation election.  
 
For example, Dillingham must determine how it will seek the advice and include 
neighboring communities in the decisions for implementation of the Regional Fisheries 
Improvement Fund. 
 
Another example is that neighboring community residents as well as Dillingham residents 
have asked us to consider several options for exemptions or other tax relief from the local 
raw fish tax.  We are diligently investigating legality and enforceability of options, keeping in 
mind the overarching principle that a distinction in tax treatment based on residency is NOT 
constitutional for the same reason that the first version of the PFD program, which geared 
the amount of payment to length of Alaska residency, was unconstitutional. Such residency 
preferences are viewed as either a violation of equal protection or as an unreasonable 
burden on the constitutionally protected freedom to travel.  We know this as part of our 
earnest investigation into which exemptions and tax relief options are and are not legally 
possible.  
 
As we prepare for a February‐March 2012 annexation election the City will be working on 
several matters to ensure that local voters are 100% clear on what they are voting upon. 
Further dialogue, research and clarification on post‐annexation financial matters for 
Dillingham residents and neighboring Bristol Bay villages will be part of this process. 
 
As predicted by Dillingham, annexation is inspiring additional consideration of borough 
formation among many communities in the region.  This was specifically mentioned at the 
October 27 meeting.  Dillingham expects this discussion to continue and we anticipate 
being an active participant in these discussions with the communities identified in the 
Commission’s annexation decision.   
 
 
   

Page 178 of 262



 

 
Report to Local Boundary Commission on     page 16 
City of Dillingham Attempts to Consult on Post Annexation Financial Matters  November 15, 2011 

Attachments 
 
Attachment One 
 Sign‐in Sheets and Meeting Summaries from August 2010 Informational Meetings  
 
Attachment Two 
Sign‐in Sheets from April 2011 Neighborhood Meetings 
 
Attachment Three 
Consultation Log Forms 

Page 179 of 262



 

Attachment One 
Sign‐in Sheets and Meeting Summaries 

from August 2010 Informational Meetings  
 

   

 page 17

Page 180 of 262



1 
 

Dillingham Informational Meeting on Annexation 
August 2, 2010 – Dillingham City Council Chambers 

7:00 pm – 9:00 pm 
Meeting Summary 

 
Attendance (see sign‐in sheet) 

Hjalmar Olson 
Bruce Johnson 
Pattyann Tacydle 
Katherine Carscallen 
Brendan Flynn 
Mike Mason 
Alice Ruby 
Carol Shade 

Keggie Tubbs 
Robert Himschoot 
Tim Sands 
Sue Mulkeit 
Steve Hunt 
Janice Shilanski  
Jayne Bennett 
Barbara Sheinberg

 
The Dillingham meeting was advertised on KDLG and posted in several locations around 
Dillingham on flyers. 
 
Dillingham Mayor Alice Ruby welcomed all to meeting and thanked everyone for attending.  At 
the beginning of the meeting it was noted that there was an agenda, informational handout, 
and map available for all to take. In addition, copies of the full petition are available.  Next, 
consultant Barbara Sheinberg spent about 40 minutes explaining the annexation petition, the 
review process, opportunity to offer comment (deadline now is October 1), the proposed local 
fish tax, and why Dillingham is proposing this annexation and tax.  After her presentation, 
Mayor Ruby opened it up for discussion, question and answer. There was about 45 minutes of 
discussion.  
 
Dillingham residents made the following comments or asked the following questions.  After 
each, there was back‐and‐forth discussion, which is briefly summarized. 
 
1. This targets commercial fishermen, why not target sport fish industry, including idea of 

expanding boundary to include Portage Creek area. 
• It has proven difficult to find legal ways to tax sport caught fish.  This annexation 

petition focuses on water only and commercial fish as this has been successfully 
used by many cities and boroughs in this region and is clearly legally defensible and 
relatively easy administratively.  Ms. Sheinberg mentions that some cities in 
Southeast Alaska (Sitka, Pelican, others?) are now levying a ‘box tax’ of $10/box on 
sport caught fish.  

 
2. How is taxation of sale of ice, groceries, fuel off of tenders being handled in other areas? Is 

this being exempted from city or borough sales tax in other places? 
• This is a good question, answer not known at this time. One meeting attendee 

expresses support for Dillingham to exempt these activities/areas from city sales tax. 
 
 

 page 18

Page 181 of 262



2 
 

3. What about having a tax on sport caught fish? 
• See answer to one above. 

 
4. Is this fair to other areas, can we share the revenue we gain? 

• Dillingham understands this concern.  

• We believe this is fair in that fishermen from other areas will benefit because they 
use Dillingham’s regional port, harbor, boat launch ramps, and other services when 
fishing the Nushagak (and Wood River).  In 2008, only 20% of those fishing the 
Nushagak are Dillingham residents, which is typical.  The revenue from this 
annexation will allow Dillingham to better maintain and to improve the harbor, 
launch ramps and more to better support regional fisheries and fish‐related 
businesses. 

• As part of our research we have looked at whether there are ways to offer a partial 
exemption (to the 2.5% local fish tax) to Dillingham residents due to the sales and 
property tax they already pay, or to other area fishermen.  The idea of an exemption 
or rebate seems to be a grey area legally. The way to really share revenue with each 
other in the region is forming a borough, but there doesn’t seem to be support for 
this at this time. Having a local fish tax does not prevent a borough from forming, as 
there are local and borough fish taxes in several places in the region.  Perhaps the 
Council can think more about any other ways or agreements to share revenue. 

5. If annexation is approved and waters now within City of Dillingham, what would affect be if 
there was a tidal or wave power project here in future or a fiber optic cable was laid down 
under these waters? 

• Since these projects would be within the City it is possible that a city land use permit 
would be needed. Main thing is that these projects are now and still would be after 
annexation in the Bristol Bay CRSA coastal management district.  That is primarily 
how state, federal and local permitting would be coordinated. This would not 
change as a result of annexation. 

 
6. Is a local fish tax deductible on your federal tax return? 

• Good question. We think the answer is yes. An audience member suggest this is 
moot since it is real money out of fishermen’s pocket, but still, think it would be a 
deduction of federal taxes. 

 
7. If the vote fails, we have another vote in the near future without going through the LBC 

process? 
• Do not know the answer to this question. 

 
8. Timing of the local vote is important. One suggestion is that it be after (or before) herring 

season and before Nushagak salmon fishing starts. (This would be between the last week of 
May and the 1st two weeks of June.) Do we have flexibility on when to schedule the vote?  

• This is good information. We are not sure how much flexibility Dillingham has; we 
will look into this. 

 page 19

Page 182 of 262



3 
 

9. What services is the City going to provide to area? Isn’t Dillingham required to provide 
public safety there if this area is in the City? 

• In rural and remote parts of cities and boroughs it is common for Alaska State 
Troopers to continue to be the primary 1st responder for public safety.  They have 
much deeper financial resources, and assets like planes and boats, that many 
smaller communities do not have. Often cities only take on public safety on the road 
system.  As a result of this annexation Dillingham is proposing to ‘step up’ in public 
safety, but Alaska State Troopers (and US Coast Guard) would still be the primary 
first responder in these waters.  As the annexation budget (petition Exhibit C‐1 and 
C‐2) and transition plan (petition Exhibit F) show, as a result of annexation 
Dillingham plans to: 

 
a) Enhance public safety response and coordination by better support for 
volunteer search and rescuers, enhanced coordination with Alaska State 
Troopers, and cross‐training and use procedures between harbor and police 
staffs for use of the City skiff. (There is $20,000 more per year to public safety for 
this.)  While the City intends to continue to assist and sometimes take the lead 
on public safety incident response within one‐quarter mile off shore, the Alaska 
State Troopers will retain jurisdiction as the primary first responders in all of 
Nushagak River and Bay.  

 
b)  Provide increased environmental protection within City boundaries by 
purchasing and maintaining an oil spill response cache at the City Boat Harbor 
and possibly in other areas; (There is a $20,000 increase in year 1 to purchase 
this.) and 

 
c)  An additional $100,000 per year is allocated to harbors for better 
maintenance and improvements.  

  
10. One person attending states that they would prefer to see a borough form, but in lieu of 

that and the lack of support for borough formation he understands the rationale for this 
effort and supports it. 

• A Dillingham council member notes that he sometimes views this as a 1st step to 
borough formation. Once Dillingham is capturing this revenue, much of which is 
currently escaping the region, perhaps neighboring communities will see the ability 
to share in this revenue as an incentive to form a borough. 

 
Meeting adjourned at about 8:30 pm. 
 

 

 page 20

Page 183 of 262



 page 21

Page 184 of 262



4 
 

Dillingham Informational Meeting on Annexation 
August 3, 2010 ‐ Aleknagik School 

7:00 pm – 9:00 pm 
Meeting Summary 

 
Attendance (see sign‐in sheet) 

 
Berna Andrews 
Deb ______ 
Kelly Ilutsik 
Jeri Alakayak 
Sally Tinker 
Shellie Aloysius 
George ______ 
Bruce Ilutsik 
Allen Ilutsik 

Fred Bartman 
Margie _____ 
Carol Shade 
Jayne Bennett 
Janice Shilanski 
Keggie Tubbs 
Robert Himschoot 
Barbara Sheinberg 

 
The Aleknagik meeting was advertised by KDLG for about a week ahead of time, a flyer was 
posted around Dillingham, Aleknagik representatives agreed to the meeting date, a notice was 
faxed or emailed to Aleknagik before the meeting, and local residents in Aleknagik helped 
spread the word.  
 
Dillingham City Council member Robert Himschoot welcomed all to meeting and thanked 
everyone for attending.  At the beginning of the meeting it was noted that there was an 
agenda, informational handout, and map available for all to take. In addition, copies of the full 
petition are available on the table.  At Mr. Himschoot’s suggestion the group went around the 
room and every one introduced themselves. Next, consultant Barbara Sheinberg spent about 40 
minutes explaining the annexation petition, the review process, opportunity to offer comment 
(deadline now is October 1), the proposed local fish tax, and why Dillingham is proposing this 
annexation.  After her presentation Mr. Himschoot opened it up for discussion, question and 
answer. There was about 45 minutes of discussion.  
 
Aleknagik residents made the following comments or asked the following questions.  After 
each, there was back‐and‐forth discussion, which is briefly summarized. 
 
1. It would be good to have an Informational Meeting on the south shore at some point. 

• Where could a meeting be held? Perhaps Carolyn’s B&B has a large room that could 
work for meeting if she wanted to host it. 

 
2. Will there be a tax on fishing guides using the Wood River area? 

• No, there will not. Others too have suggested ways to tax sportfishing activity but no 
uplands (lodges) or ‘point of sale of sportfishing activity’ are part of this annexation.  
No plan to tax sportfishing as part of annexation.  

   

 page 22

Page 185 of 262



5 
 

3. Do you think the local fish tax will scare off commercial fisherman to other areas, rather 
than Nushagak? 

• No, because other fishing districts in the area already have a local fish tax, the 
Nushagak may be the only place that does not.  Also, in a worst case scenario, if 
some did leave, that would be better for those that remained.  

 
4. The proposed local fish tax will need to be paid by Aleknagik, Clark’s Point and other area 

fishermen, yet, we won’t get a benefit from this; this does not seem fair. 
 

• Dillingham understands this concern.  
 

• However, we believe that fishermen from other areas will benefit because they use 
Dillingham’s regional port, harbor, boat launch ramps, and other services when 
fishing the Nushagak (and Wood River).  In 2008, only 20% of those fishing the 
Nushagak are Dillingham residents, which is typical.  The revenue from this 
annexation will allow Dillingham to better maintain and to improve the harbor, 
launch ramps and more to better support regional fisheries and fish‐related 
businesses. 

 
• As part of our research we have looked at whether there are ways to offer a partial 

exemption (to the 2.5% local fish tax) to Dillingham residents due to the sales and 
property tax they already pay, or to other area fishermen.  The idea of an exemption 
or rebate seems to be a grey area legally. The way to really share revenue with each 
other in the region is forming a borough, but there doesn’t seem to be support for 
this at this time. Having a local fish tax does not prevent a borough from forming, as 
there are local and borough fish taxes in several places in the region.  Perhaps the 
Council can think more about any other ways or agreements to share revenue. 

 
5. Aleknagik residents are already supporting Dillingham by buying our groceries, fuels etc in 

Dillingham and paying sales tax, why should we be asked to provide further support to 
Dillingham? 

• Dillingham understands this concern. Dillingham needs additional revenue to be 
more financially sustainable, to maintain and improve the infrastructure and 
services that the regional fisheries –which are supported out of Dillingham‐ use, fish 
is the economic resource in this region, many other cities and boroughs in this 
region already have a local fish tax, and, if we commercial fishermen who live in 
Dillingham and neighboring communities pay this tax it enables us to collect money 
that is completely escaping the region now from the approximately 38% of 
Nushagak fishermen that are not Alaskan residents and from the approximately 50% 
of Nushagak fish that is processed outside of the region.   

 
6. Regarding the Manokotak and Igushik River area, and Olsenville; there is property down in 

these places used now and in the future for a variety of things, will Dillingham be levying 
taxes on activities down here in the future? 

 page 23

Page 186 of 262



6 
 

• No land is part of this annexation, only commercial fishing waters. Will not be taxing 
any activities on land as a result of this annexation. There are some activities in the 
water that would be subject to the existing Dillingham 6% sales tax (sale of 
groceries, ice, fuel from tenders), but Dillingham is thinking about adding an 
exemption to the sales tax code to exempt sales off like this in the commercial 
fishing waters. We are wondering if people support exempting these sales?  

 
7. What kind of services will Dillingham be providing to the Igushik and Ekuk setnetters now 

that the waters will be in the City of Dillingham?  Igushik could use a harbor or ramp, when 
weather turns bad there are lots of fishermen trying to power up the creek as quick as 
possible for protection. 

• There is nothing proposed or promised now, however, on pages 4 and 5 of the 
informational handout there are a lot of ideas of improvements that could support 
and strengthen regional fisheries and fishery businesses.  Dillingham is interested to 
know if any of these ideas, or others, are particularly supported by Aleknagik 
fishermen and would make the idea of paying the local 2.5% fish tax easier to 
support. 

 
8. Seems unfair that outlying villages won’t be voting on this, only Dillingham residents.  

Seems like everyone in Dillingham would support this. 
• Dillingham understands this concern.  

 

Meeting adjourned at about 8:45 pm. 

 
 

 page 24

Page 187 of 262



 page 25

Page 188 of 262



7 
 

Dillingham Informational Meeting on Annexation 
August 4, 2010 – Clark’s Point School 

6:00 pm – 8:00 pm 
Meeting Summary 

 
Attendance (see sign‐in sheet) 

 
Harry (Tom) Egburt 
Harry Wassily Sr 
Jimmy Wassily 
Richard Clark 
Karen Wassily 
Sharon Clark 
Margaret Garding 
Robert Wassily 
Harry Wassily Jr 
Kayla Wassily 
Alannah Hurley 

Kaylee Wassily‐Walker (youth) 
Samantha Clark (youth) 
Brian Clark (youth) 
Ryland Clark (youth) 
Joe Wassily‐Walker (youth) 
Carol Shade 
Jayne Bennett 
Janice Shilanski 
Keggie Tubbs 
Robert Himschoot 
Barbara Sheinberg 

 
The Clark’s Point meeting was advertised by KDLG for about a week ahead of time, a flyer was 
posted around Dillingham, Clark’s Point representatives agreed to the meeting date, a notice 
was faxed or emailed to Clark’s before the meeting, and local residents in Clark’s Point helped 
spread the word.  
 
Dillingham City Council member Carol Shade welcomed all to meeting and thanked everyone 
for attending.  At the beginning of the meeting it was noted that there was an agenda, 
informational handout, and map available for all to take. In addition, copies of the full petition 
are available on the table.  At Ms. Shade’s suggestion the group went around the room and 
every one introduced themselves. Next, consultant Barbara Sheinberg spent about 40 minutes 
explaining the annexation petition, the review process, opportunity to offer comment (deadline 
now is October 1), the proposed local fish tax, and why Dillingham is proposing this annexation.  
After her presentation Ms. Shade opened it up for discussion, question and answer. There was 
about an hour of discussion.  
 
Clark’s Point residents made the following comments or asked the following questions.  After 
each, there was back‐and‐forth discussion, which is briefly summarized. 
 
1. It doesn’t seem fair for Dillingham to receive all the local fish tax revenue.  The idea of 

sharing some of the revenue that Dillingham would gain from the local fish tax with 
Nushagak Bay communities is suggested.  Developing some type of Memorandum of 
Agreement to do this is suggested.  There is quite a bit of conversation about this and 
virtually all Clark’s Point residents support this concept. ‘We need to work together, let’s 
write a Memorandum of Agreement to share some of this revenue.  We want to avoid 
putting in competing petitions and arguing in front of the LBC if possible.” One idea is to 

 page 26

Page 189 of 262



8 
 

form a Nushagak Bay Committee to consider this. “We all live here.” Another idea if 
revenue sharing can’t work, or in addition, is to earmark some of the local fish tax revenue 
to a “Village‐Friendly Community” line item in the Dillingham budget. Some of the things 
this money could help fund would be a van to help transport villagers around Dillingham 
when in town. Making Dillingham friendlier to visiting village residents is good for villagers 
and good for Dillingham as this will mean more sales tax etc.  

• Dillingham understands this concern. 

• No one is getting this ‘escaping’ revenue right now as there is no entity that can 
legally levy a local fish tax; this is a primary thing that the Dillingham annexation will 
accomplish. 

• The added revenue to Dillingham from a local fish tax will help pay for services and 
infrastructure that commercial fishermen and the fleet use and will help make the 
community more financially sustainable. It will help cover at least $500,000 in real 
costs (harbor, public safety, solid waste) that the City of Dillingham taxpayers pay 
(through property and sales tax) in infrastructure, maintenance and services that 
support Nushagak Bay fisheries.  Only about 20% of the fishermen in the Nushagak 
are Dillingham residents. 

• However, Dillingham understands that fishermen from neighboring communities will 
be paying this tax too and wish to see some improvements or revenue that benefit 
them (as will the 42% of Nushagak bay fishermen who are not Alaskans ‐2008 data).  

• We are thinking about ideas that we have been hearing about and heard tonight 
such as having a line item (a fraction of a percent of the local fish tax raised each 
year) that could go to a ‘Fishing Support’ or ‘Village Friendly’ fund. Some suggest a 
regional group could meet to decide priorities for this funding? How would it be 
divided? Perhaps the funding could be available for local match for communities? 
Would an MOA be a legal way to do this? Should the fish tax rate be raised a ½ 
percent to 3% so that a ½ percent could be used this way? 

2. If there was agreement to share some of the revenue, should we amend the petition to 
include this? 

• Ms. Sheinberg notes that the Local Boundary Commission will be deciding on the 
annexation and its boundaries.  They care about tax (and revenue) because they 
want to see that the municipality will be sustainable if the proposed annexation is 
approved. She suggests that because the LBC’s primary concern is boundaries, the 
fact that this is a matter between local communities and not the state, and the fact 
that the LBC process is so lengthy and formal, she recommends that communities 
work this out among themselves and not amend the petition.  The process of 
amending the petition would set this process back several months.  There can be 
comments and testimony about this to the LBC and when they are here in March; 
that way it would become part of the formal record.  

 

 page 27

Page 190 of 262



9 
 

3. A significant part of the state business fish tax that Clark’s Point gets each year (about 
$100,000 now) goes directly to pay for our winter fuel at the school, this revenue is much 
needed by the community. 

• The Dillingham petition does not affect where processing is occurring.  Processing 
occurring within the Clark’s Point municipal boundary (and thus state fish tax 
payments to Clarks) is not affected by the petition.  

• In the petition budget (Exhibit C‐1) Dillingham assumes that there will be no 
additional state business fish tax revenue to Dillingham as a result of annexation.  

 
4. A resident notes that only Dillingham residents would vote on this.  

• This is correct. 
 

5. Does Dillingham collect any revenue from sport fishing? 
• No it does not. Looking at the Dillingham city boundary on the map, there is not 

much sport fishing occurring within the city. 
 
6. Residents name a variety of infrastructure that they are interested in developing in Clarks 

Point and between Clark's and Ekuk, including dock improvements, small boat harbor, a 
connecting road, and a longer airport runway.  

 
7. Saguyak Inc’s land straddles both sides of the Nushagak Bay.  They are pursuing acquiring 

more jurisdiction on this land from the federal government and want rights to the adjacent 
Nushagak Bay water as well.  

 
8. One resident notes he has always been against borough formation because the population 

of Clark’s Point is so low compared to Dillingham that it would not work well for Clark’s. 
 
9. There is some talk about how high the price of fuel and groceries in Dillingham.  

 
 

Meeting was adjourned just before 8:00 pm 
 

 page 28

Page 191 of 262



 page 29

Page 192 of 262



 page 30

Page 193 of 262



 

Attachment Two 
Sign‐in Sheets from April 2011 Neighborhood Meetings 

 
   

 page 31

Page 194 of 262



 page 32

Page 195 of 262



 page 33

Page 196 of 262



 page 34

Page 197 of 262



 page 35

Page 198 of 262



 page 36

Page 199 of 262



 page 37

Page 200 of 262



 page 38

Page 201 of 262



 page 39

Page 202 of 262



 

Attachment Three 
Consultation Log Forms 

 

 page 40

Page 203 of 262



 page 41

Page 204 of 262



 page 42

Page 205 of 262



 page 43

Page 206 of 262



 page 44

Page 207 of 262



 page 45

Page 208 of 262



 page 46

Page 209 of 262



 page 47

Page 210 of 262



 page 48

Page 211 of 262



Consultation Log Book on Post Annexation Financial Matters
• Fill in a consultation log sheet for every consultation that takes place.
• A consultation is a phone conversation, in-person visit, or written correspondence (email or letter).
• Please print a copy of email and letters to attach to log book.

ENTITY CONSULTATION WAS
WITH

DATE OF CONSULTATION

TIME OF CONSULTATION

CONSULTATION METHOD
(phone, email, letter, in person)

WHO ATTENDED

Robert Heyano
6/15/11
11 :00 a.m.
in person - stopped by my office
Alice, Robert

KEY POINTS
DISCUSSED
DURING
CONSULTATION
(note it is job of
Dillingham
representative to
fill this out
immediately
after
consultation and
submit to City
Clerk)

He wanted to let me know that the affected cities and tribal entities met, except
Aleknagik (because Kay's had vehicle problems). They agreed that they want
to meet with the City of Dillingham as a group. Each of them will go back to
their entity and send a letter or resolution to the City that confirms the same.
Helen Foster, Ekuk Village Council, is drafting a letter to me to advise us of
their meeting and mutual decision.

He thinks that we will probably receive the letter from Ekuk and hopefully the
other affected community entities before fishing. He indicated that they don't
plan to identify a specific date to meet but it's likely that a meeting won't be
able to be coordinated until after fishing.

I advised that it will be important to hear from each of the entities that were
specifically referenced by the LBC (city governments for most and tribal entities
for Ekuk and Koliganek). He indicated that they understood.

I asked that the letters be sent to City Hall and not to me personally.

I advised that we planned to send another invitation to the communities
because we have not heard from any of them. We can hold off on sending
those until later in the month though we may send them again anyway if we
don't hear from the entities in the near future. He said that is why he wanted to
talk with me personally before he leaves for fishing.

ANY NEXT STEPS DISCUSSED

Log Report 6/15/2011

 page 49

Page 212 of 262



Consultation Log Book on Post Annexation Financial Matters
• Fill in a consultation log sheet for every consultation that takes place.
• A consultation is a phone conversation, in-person visit, or written correspondence (email or letter).
• Please print a copy of email and letters to attach to log book.

ENTITY CONSULTATION WAS
WITH

DATE OF CONSULTATION

TIME OF CONSULTATION

CONSULTATION METHOD
(phone, email, letter, in person)

WHO ATTENDED

Robert Heyano, representing the City of Ekuk

July 29, 2011

1:45 pm

Return phone call from Robert

Janice Williams, City Clerk and Robert Heyano

KEY POINTS
DISCUSSED
DURING
CONSULTATION
(note it is job of
Dillingham
representative to
fill this out
immediately
after
consultation and
submit to City
Clerk)

Regarding my earlier phone message, he noted that leaving out the City of Ekwok
was a clerical error in his letter of June 15. Luki Akelkok had represented Ekwok at a
meeting they had held to talk about the April 26 meeting at which they drew up a
resolution that they would all review. Aleknagik was the only community that wasn't
represented, but it was his understanding they wanted to go in with the group. Since
then he has not heard from anyone and he was prepared to make some phone calls.
He also mentioned that there was discussion about village representation, but
understood the LBC's direction was focused on the cities they named.

I summed up our phone call noting we would prepared to answer his letter now that
fishing was behind us. We would be asking to meet and set up a time that was good
for the group. I noted that the other six communities would receive a courtesy copy of
the letter, and appreciated him clarifying Aleknagik and Ekwok's status as a group
member. I thanked him for his time.

ANY NEXT STEPS DISCUSSED

Log Report 7/29/2011

Will be preparing a letter for Mayor Ruby's signature on Monday at
the latest.

 page 50

Page 213 of 262



Consultation Log Book on Post Annexation Financial Matters
• Fill in a consultation log sheet for every consultation that takes place.
• A consultation is a phone conversation, in-person visit, or written correspondence (email or letter).
• Please print a copy of email and letters to attach to log book.

ENTITY CONSULTATION WAS
WITH

DATE OF CONSULTATION

TIME OF CONSULTATION

CONSULTATION METHOD
(phone, email, letter, in person)

WHO ATTENDED

Robert Heyano
8/11/11
est 11 :00 a.m.
.In person
Alice Ruby, Robert Heyano

KEY POINTS
DISCUSSED
DURING
CONSULTATION
(note it is job of
Dillingham
representative to
fill this out
immediately
after
consultation and
submit to City
Clerk)

Robert called and then stopped by my office. He acknOWledged that Ekuk
received the letter that the City sent recently. Helen Sifsof, their administrator,
emailed him a copy.

Robert wanted to clarify that Ekuk's reference to meeting with a group of village
representatives was not meant to say that the communities had formally
agreed. Rather there was a representative of each of the communities
referenced in his letter at the meeting. Those representatives agreed that a
joint meeting was preferable. Each of those representatives was supposed to
go back to their respective organizations and seek concurrence to proceed in
that manner. At this point Robert has not heard from the communities about
whether their organizations agreed, with the exception that he heard that
Manokotak might have taken formal action to agree. He said he called Moses
Toyukuk to confirm but had to leave a message and has not heard from him as
yet.

Robert said that he also talked to Luki Akelkok, Ekwok Village Council, to find
out who to contact at the City of Ekwok. He says that the City is not really
functioning at this point, for example the electric utility has been taken over by
AVEC because the City was not actively managing the service. Robert says
that Luki is not on the City Council and not interested in being involved with the
City. Robert suggested that we contact one of the Council Members if we can
determine who they are.

Robert confirmed that Ekuk is ready to move ahead with the joint meeting.

ANY NEXT STEPS DISCUSSED

log Report 8/11/2011

I advised that the City plans to move forward to try to schedule the meeting.

 page 51

Page 214 of 262



 page 52

Page 215 of 262



 page 53

Page 216 of 262



 page 54

Page 217 of 262



 page 55

Page 218 of 262



 page 56

Page 219 of 262



 page 57

Page 220 of 262



 page 58

Page 221 of 262



 page 59

Page 222 of 262



 page 60

Page 223 of 262



 page 61

Page 224 of 262



 page 62

Page 225 of 262



 page 63

Page 226 of 262



 page 64

Page 227 of 262



 page 65

Page 228 of 262



 page 66

Page 229 of 262



 page 67

Page 230 of 262



 page 68

Page 231 of 262



 page 69

Page 232 of 262



 page 70

Page 233 of 262



 page 71

Page 234 of 262



 page 72

Page 235 of 262



 page 73

Page 236 of 262



 page 74

Page 237 of 262



Attempt No. 3 – Mayor Julie Brandon, City of Ekwok – 9.15.2011 

Consultation Log Book on Post Annexation Financial Matters 
• Fill in a consultation log sheet for every consultation that takes place.  
• A consultation is a phone conversation, in‐person visit, or written correspondence (email or letter).  
• Please print a copy of email and letters to attach to log book. 
 
ENTITY CONSULTATION WAS 
WITH 

Mayor Julie Brandon      
Mayor for the City of Ekwok  

DATE OF CONSULTATION 
Sept. 15, 2011 

TIME OF CONSULTATION 
4:00 pm 

CONSULTATION METHOD  
(phone, email, letter, in person) 

Phone to 464-3303 – Home, Mayor Brandon 

WHO ATTENDED 
Phone call initiated by Dan Forster, City Manager 

KEY POINTS 
DISCUSSED 
DURING 
CONSULTATION 
(note it is job of 
Dillingham 
representative to 
fill this out 
immediately 
after 
consultation and 
submit to City 
Clerk) 

Sept. 15, Thursday, 4:00 pm.  Called Mayor Brandon’s home number; phone was 
busy.  
4:05 pm – phone still busy at home number 
Called City of Ekwok – left a message on their answering machine that he had 
attempted to call.   
4:10 pm – person answering commented Julie was not there and believed she was at 
work 
Called again to the City of Ekwok, and left a message on the phone.  
 
There has been no return call from Mayor Brandon.  
 

ANY NEXT STEPS DISCUSSED 
 

Log Report 9/15/2011 

 page 75

Page 238 of 262



 page 76

Page 239 of 262



 page 77

Page 240 of 262



Consultation Log Book on Post Annexation Financial Matters 
 Fill in a consultation log sheet for every consultation that takes place.  

 A consultation is a phone conversation, in-person visit, or written correspondence (email or letter).  

 Please print a copy of email and letters to attach to log book. 
 

ENTITY CONSULTATION WAS 
WITH 

Robert Heyano, President      
Ekuk Village Council   

DATE OF CONSULTATION 
October 5, 2011  

TIME OF CONSULTATION 
3:00 PM 

CONSULTATION METHOD  
(phone, email, letter, in person) 

Via phone call to cell number 843-0833  

WHO ATTENDED 
Janice Williams, City Clerk  

KEY POINTS 
DISCUSSED 
DURING 
CONSULTATION 
(note it is job of 
Dillingham 
representative to 
fill this out 
immediately 
after 
consultation and 
submit to City 
Clerk) 

Robert hand-delivered a letter to the city clerk’s office early on the morning of October 
3.  The letter was dated October 3 and addressed to Mayor Ruby: 

 A return letter was hand delivered to Robert on October 4 and a copy put in 
the mail, noting the COD was interested in meeting collectively and would be 
looking for a date shortly that would be mutually acceptable.   

 Phoned Robert on October 5.  I noted the COD was following up on his letter 
of October 3 to call the tribal office or his cell phone for possible meeting dates 
and times to meet to discuss annexation petition and that he would prefer to 
meet collectively with the other communities and the COD if that could be 
arranged.  

 
Robert was not sure how many would show up, he wasn’t sure where the coalition 
stood at this time.  
 
Robert did not have any days researched.  I threw out Monday, October 24, the day 
after AFN, assuming their attendance and that they would come through Dillingham 
on their way back home.  I noted we should contact these communities soon, 
because if they planned to attend, they would be making their flight arrangements, if 
they hadn’t already. He was agreeable to Monday, October 24, and was going to 
contact the communities. He did not have any other dates in mind.   
 
I will circulate an email to see if Monday, October 24 works for the COD.   
 
 
 
 
 

ANY NEXT STEPS DISCUSSED 
 

10/5/2011 

 page 78

Page 241 of 262



Consultation Log Book on Post Annexation Financial Matters 
 Fill in a consultation log sheet for every consultation that takes place.  

 A consultation is a phone conversation, in-person visit, or written correspondence (email or letter).  

 Please print a copy of email and letters to attach to log book. 
 

ENTITY CONSULTATION WAS 
WITH 

 

DATE OF CONSULTATION 
 

TIME OF CONSULTATION 
 

CONSULTATION METHOD  
(phone, email, letter, in person) 

 

WHO ATTENDED 

 

KEY POINTS 
DISCUSSED 
DURING 
CONSULTATION 
(note it is job of 
Dillingham 
representative to 
fill this out 
immediately 
after 
consultation and 
submit to City 
Clerk) 

 

ANY NEXT STEPS DISCUSSED 
 

 

 page 79

Page 242 of 262



Consultation Log Book   
 Fill in a consultation log sheet for every consultation that takes place.  

 A consultation is a phone conversation, in-person visit, or written correspondence (email or letter).  

 Please print a copy of email and letters to attach to log book. 
 

ENTITY CONSULTATION WAS 
WITH 

 Robert Heyano 

DATE OF CONSULTATION 
 10/14/2011 

TIME OF CONSULTATION 
Morning some time 

CONSULTATION METHOD  
(phone, email, letter, in person) 

Phone to City Clerk  

WHO ATTENDED 

  

KEY POINTS 
DISCUSSED 
DURING 
CONSULTATION 
(note it is job of 
Dillingham 
representative to 
fill this out 
immediately 
after 
consultation and 
submit to City 
Clerk) 

Robert Heyano called to inform me that all but 2 communities, Clarks Point and Manokotak, 
can be available to meet on October 24, the proposed date to meet as a collective group.  I 
asked him does that mean he contacted Herman Nelson, President, Julie Brandon, Mayor, 
and Randy Hastings, New Stuyahok were contacted.  He wasn’t sure, but would ask his office 
to send me a copy of the list of officials that were contacted in the seven communities.  
He asked if we had another date to meet?  I answered I didn’t, but the council would be 
meeting in a special meeting today and would ask them.  
 
Clerk Note:  I have not received that list.   
 

ANY NEXT STEPS DISCUSSED 
   

10/14/2011 

 page 80

Page 243 of 262



 page 81

Page 244 of 262



Consultation Log Book on Post Annexation Financial Matters
   
ENTITY CONSULTATION 
WAS WITH 

Group Meeting with leaders/representatives from neighboring communities 

DATE OF CONSULTATION  27‐Oct‐11 
TIME OF CONSULTATION  6:00 p.m. 
CONSULTATION METHOD 
(phone, email, letter, in 
person) 

In person & via Teleconference.  Meeting in the dining room of the Dillingham 
Senior Citizens Center in Dillingham.  Teleconference was paid for by Nunamta (I 
believe) 

WHO ATTENDED  Robert Heyano, Ekuk Village Council; Harry Wassily, Clarks Point; Sharon Clark, 
Clarks Point Village Council, Jimmy Coupchiak, Togiak; Ferdinant Sharp, 
Manokotak, Mike Minista, Manokotak; Moses Toyukuk, Manokotak; Alice Ruby, 
City of Dillingham; Janice Williams, City of Dillingham; Jody Seitz, City of 
Dillingham; Dan Forster, City of Dillingham; Keggie Tubbs, City of Dillingham; Bob 
Himschoot, City of Dillingham;  Via Teleconference: Luki Akelkok, Ekwok Village 
Council; Richard King, Ekwok Village Council, Kenny Jensen, Ekwok; Herman 
Nelson, Koliganek Village Council; Dennis Andrew, New Stuyahok. 

KEY POINTS DISCUSSED 
DURING CONSULTATION 
(note it is job of Dillingham 
representative to fill this 
out immediately after 
consultation and submit to 
City Clerk) 

Explained that the LBC decision made it mandatory to attempt to make contact 
with communities, have been attempting to do so since May.  Thanked Ekuk 
Village Council and Nunamta Alukasti for assisting to bring this meeting about.   
 
Representatives from Aleknagik, Clarks Point and Manokotak separately 
explained their objections to the annexation petition which, in summary, are that 
their residents fish in the district and so they don’t feel that it should be included 
in Dillingham’s city boundaries, the district is on their doorstep so should not be a 
part of the City of Dillingham, they object to charging additional taxes to fishers 
who already earn less than non‐resident fishers and they object to the tax going 
only to Dillingham.  I explained Dillingham’s need for revenue in order to sustain 
the community, that income is escaping from the region, and that we support 
and have been involved in alternative efforts in the past (i.e. borough formation); 
that the annexation will have a minimal effect on people’s lives, the elders in 
Manokotak do not have any reason to be fearful of the City taking their land or 
affecting their daily lives.  Aleknagik reps thanked the City for faxing the invitation 
letter as they had not been contacted about the meeting ‐ they had to leave early 
because of a previously scheduled meeting in Aleknagik.  I handed out a copy of 
the most current Dillingham Annexation Petition calendar as well as the Q&A 
sheet.            
 
Asked if Dillingham would consider requesting a delay from the LBC (of up to 2 
years) for submitting the report and holding the election and instead join with the 
communities to study and consider forming a borough during that period.  I 
indicated that the council has been firm that we will submit the report on time to 
fulfill the condition placed on the petition as part of the approval process.  We 
are strongly in support of a borough, have always been in support of a borough, 
in fact, Dillingham noted that it has been in this position in the past with 
proposing borough formation and each time Dillingham was “left at the alter” 
while other communities walked away.  We are at a point where Dillingham’s 
council is not willing to put ourselves in that position again.  We are committed to 
going forward with annexation and are also willing to work together on borough 
formation.  The City is prepared to make a commitment of both time and money.   
I offered that there is a lot of time between the date that we file our report and 

 page 82

Page 245 of 262



the date that the election will occur to actually make progress on borough 
formation and might influence the council on setting the election date.   
Discussed that their concern is that a delay must come from the City before the 
LBC decision is final in order for Ekuk to avoid the expense of filing an appeal.  
Discussed the City's intent to avoid further expense and to meet the commitment 
made to the LBC to submit report.  Communities will discuss how they can 
demonstrate commitment to borough research.  I offered that in any case, 
meetings of the communities are always valuable and welcome as we have much 
in common, including borough formation research.   At the end of the meeting, 
Dillingham representatives left the room to allow remaining community 
representatives to meet without our presence. 

ANY NEXT STEPS 
DISCUSSED 

Agreed to meet again sometime after the Nov 17 Dillingham City Council 
meeting.   

 

 page 83

Page 246 of 262



Petition for Annexation to the City of Dillingham                          June 14, 2010 as  
Page 195 of 195           revised October 16, 2014   

   

EXHIBIT K. INFORMATION RELATED TO THE PRE-FILING/PRE-SUBMISSION PUBLIC HEARING & 
NOTICE  

 
Will Insert  in petition submitted to LBC, assuming Council makes final decision to proceed 

Page 247 of 262



 

Page 248 of 262



Page 249 of 262



Page 250 of 262



Page 251 of 262



Page 252 of 262



Page 253 of 262



Page 254 of 262



Page 255 of 262



 

Page 256 of 262



Page 257 of 262



 

Page 258 of 262



Page 259 of 262



Page 260 of 262



Page 261 of 262



Page 262 of 262




